Rulers in Asia (1683 — 1811): attachment to the Database of Diplomatic letters

Below you can find a list of all rulers and other correspondents at all the locations mentioned in in the Database
of Diplomatic Letters.

By Maarten Manse and Simon Kemper, University of Leiden, 2015

Explanation:

The ruling dynasties in the Indonesian Archipelago and other parts of East-, South- and Southeast Asia can be
incredibly complicated to comprehend. Many rulers were mobile, sometimes regencies merged together or
partitioned, some rulers ruled different regencies during their lifetime and some of them were exiled by the
VOC-government. On top of that, spelling of their names by natives and VOC-clerks was inconsequent and can
be very hard to verify nowadays. Most of the names in the Database are directly derived from the Daghregisters
and Brieven van Inlande Vorsten -collection and transcribed into modern spelling. However, some of these
rulers can be found in secondary sources, either printed or online. Verification of those rulers that were found
online is not fully guaranteed. There are also names that so far have been left untranscribed. Ideally, all of these
rulers will eventually be traced and verified, but therefore much more research is required. We therefore gladly
invite anyone who has more information on any of these persons or locations to contribute to or comment on
this list.

Rulers, as mentioned in in the Database of Diplomatic Letters, 1683-1812:

Europe:
Lisbon:
=  Senado Real Portugués (Portuguese Senate) (Mentioned in 1641 and 1685)
London:
=  King Charles | (1625-1649)
e John Stallon (Mentioned in 1641), Mariner of Tower Wharf London
=  Governors of the British East India Company (Mentioned in 1657)
=  King Charles Il (29 May 1660 — 6 Feb. 1685)
e Henry Barker (Mentioned in 1663), Clerk of the British Crown
e Sir Richard (Mentioned in 1663), Member of EIC commission
e Maurice Thomson (Mentioned in 1663), Member of EIC commission
e Michael Davison (Mentioned in 1663), Member of EIC commission
Africa:

Abessynia (Gondar):



= Yohannes | (A'ilaf Sagad and John |) (1667-1682)
» lyasu | (19 Jul. 1682 — 13 Oct. 1706)

Cairo (Ottoman Governors):

= Hekimoglu Ali Pasha (1756 — 1757)
Cape of Good Hope (exiles):

=  Makassarese exiles (mentioned in 1682)
e Toja Hussain (Mentioned in 1682)
e Wife of Toja Hussain (Mentioned in 1681)
e Daeng Mangappa (Mangalle/ | Adulug) (Mentioned between 1674-1681),
Brother of the ruler (Karaeng) of Tallo, Sultan Haraunarrasyid Tumenanga ri
Lampana and son of Karaeng Bontomarannu and Commander of the troops on
the fleet of Paulus Huntum
= Sultan Abdul Bashir (Nizam ad-Din Abd al-Basir/Abdul Radja/Abdul Lasi), Sultan of
Tambora in 1687 — 1697, exiled in 1697
= Raden Sake (Mentioned in 1720), exiled from Banten in 1716
= Raden Suryakasuma (Saloringpasar) (Mentioned in 1722 — 1726), exiled in 1715
=  Raja Christofeel Manoppo [Raja Bolaang/Raja Mongondow] (Mentioned in 1773), exiled
in 1772 to Robben Island
= Kaicili Putra Ahmad (Mentioned in 1786), son of Jalaluddin Shah of Ternate, appointed
as Kapita Laut of Ternate on 10 December 1764 and exiled to the Cape of Good Hope on
3 October 1775

Cape of Good Hope:
=  Robert Brown (Mentioned in 1682), Captain of the British ship The Johanna
* Nicolas d'Avenant (Mentioned in 1682),, Merchant on the British ship The
Johanna

Middle East/Persia/Arabian Peninsula:

Persia (Isfahan):

= Shah Abbas Il (Sultan Muhammad Mirza) (1642-1666)
=  Shah Suleiman | (26 Oct. 1666- 29 Jul. 1694)

e Sheikh Ali Khan Zangeneh (1669 — 1691), grandvizir
= Sultan Husayn (29 Jul. 1694 — 11 Sep. 1722)

e Beglar Begi Khan (Mentioned in 1740)

Bandar Abbas (Persia):

=  Muhammad Jafar Khan (Mentioned in 1764 — 1765)
=  Catur (Mentioned in 1766)

= Abi Abdullah (Mentioned in 1766)

=  Takaxsdas (Mentioned in 1763)

= Korbas (Mentioned in 1763)

=  VOC Brokers (Mentioned in 1761)



Basrah (Iraq)

Muscat (Oman):

Mocha (Yemen):

Abdullah Muhammad (Mentioned in 1765)

Huseyin Pasha (?-1668), King of Basrah

Abu Hilal Ahmad ibn Sa‘id (10 Jun. 1749 — 14 Dec. 1783)
Said (1) ibn Ahmad (14 Dec 1783 — 1811), deposed from temporal power in 1786
e Naturam (Mentioned in 1763)
e Taramram (Merchant, Mentioned in 1757)
e Khalifa lbn Muhammad (Mentioned in 1766), chief merchant
e Dremol (Mentioned in 1788), plenipotentiary of the deceased Narutan

Ali al-Jahhaf (1655-1670), governor of Mocha

e Adial-Mas Korde (Mentioned between 1661- 1670), Houselord of the VOC post

in Mocha

Sayyid Hasan b. al-Mutahhar al-Jurmuzi (Mentioned in 1670), governor of Mocha
Muhammad Il bin al-Mutawakkil 'Ala Allah Ismail (29 Jun. 1681 - 27 Apr. 1686), Imam of
Yemen
Al-Mahdi Muhammad un-Nasir bin Al-Mahdi Ahmad (27 Apr. 1686 — 1718), Imam of
Yemen

e Siri Ibrahim, son of he Imam* (Mentioned in 1712 — 1715)

e Sheikh Tagil Abdul Sal (1712 — 1738), Governor of Mocha
e Said Saleh (Mentioned in 1757)

e Haj Muhammad (Mentioned in 1757)

e Merchant from Mocha, “den coopman Cassim Ter...[?]” (Mentioned in 1715)
e Mansyur Bila (Mentioned in 1716), Warlord
e Abdul Allah (Mentioned in 1715), Writer in Mocha

Qasim Il ibn Husain (1718 — 1723), Imam of Yemen

Jeddah (Saudi Arabia):

Sarab (Persia):

East Asia:

Muhammad Ibn Magqil Har'jarah (Mentioned in 1757), VOC-broker

Muhammad Nasir Khan (Mentioned in 1763)

Edo (Japan [Tokyo]):

1See: N. Um, The merchant houses of Mocha: trade and architecture in an Indian Ocean port (Washington: University of Washington Press

2009).



China:

Nagasaki:

Hirado:

Amoy (Xiamen):

Empress Meisho (1629-1643)
Emperor Go-Komyo (1643-1654)
Emperor Reigen (9 Jul. 1654 — 24 Sep. 1732)
*  Governor Yofisama (Mentioned in 1664)

Matsumae UjiHiro (Mentioned in 1637)
Ushigome Chizaemon Shigenori (1671-1681), Bugyé of Nagasaki

Matsuura Jakono Kami (Mentioned in 1637)

Cheng T'ai (Mentioned in 1661), Mandarin and Commander
Bu Yuan of Xiamen (Mentioned in 1688),

Governor Kao Chi Chuo (Mentioned in 1688)

Governor(s) of Xiamen

Cho Ha Cheng (Mentioned in 1808)

Li Kong Hu (Mentioned in 1806)

Kim Hab Sung (Mentioned in 1806)

Beijing (China; Qing-emperors):

Shunzhi Emperor (1638-1661)

Kangxi Emperor (K'ang-hsi Emperor) (5 Feb. 1661 — 20 Dec. 1722)
e Mandarin of Beijing (Mentioned between 1663-1668)

Qianlong Emperor (8 Oct. 1735 — 7 Feb. 1796/1799)

Regent of Beijing (“Tjontok Tsialou”) (Mentioned in 1741 — 1742)

Regent of Beijing/Hoppo of Beijing (Mentioned in 1741 — 1742)

Canton (Guangzhou):

Pinamong (Mentioned in 1653), Old King of Canton

Singamong (Mentioned in 1653), New King of Canton

Governor Tusay Chin- Pang Talaja ('Tousatien Pangtalauja')(Mentioned in 1677)
e Pingham Sinong-Siong (Mentioned between 1677-1678), Viceroy of Canton
e Ci-Moi (Mentioned in 1679), delegate
e LiSu-Qua (Mentioned in 1679), lieutenant

Governor Chu Hong-Qu (Mentioned in 1688)
e Hoppo Kuan-Yin-Pao (Mentioned in 1688)
e Apostle in Canton (Mentioned in in 1710)
e Cheng Wu-Sai (1736 — 1741), acting hoppo

Governor Wang An-kuo (1740 — 1744)

Governor Yang Unpis (1734 — 17387?)



Fuzhou:

=  Geng Jimao (Keng Chi-mao) (Mentioned between 1663-1676)
e Son of Geng Jimao (Mentioned in 1676)
e Shi Chetoq (Sitetock), admiral
e Quo Kayko (Mentioned in 1675)
e Kako (Mentioned in 1676), Translator of Geng Jimao
e Li Pui (Tai Singh Li Pui) (Mentioned between 1663-1665), General of Fuzhou
0 Fuzhou Lieutenant (Combon Fuzhou) (Mentioned between 1664-1665)
0 Chang Pui (Mentioned in 1668), Army commander
0 Long Po-Ri (Mentioned in 1677), Army commander
=  Timping Siong Qon-Qing (Timpingh Sionghkonkingh) (Mentioned between 1677-1678),
The second generalissimus of the Kangxi Emperor and Brother of Sing La-Mong
= Kon Cenongh (Mentioned between 1678 -1680), Bu Yuan/Zongdu of Fuzhou
e Lilau-Ya (Mentioned between 1679-1680), Ambassador of the Kangxi Emperor
e Tam Bin-Co (Tambinco) (Mentioned in 1679), Merchant
= Hai Fang t'ung Chih (Mentioned in 1682), Hayong of Fuzhou
e Quo-Chinlin Siam (Mentioned in 1681), Delegate
¢ Chuo-Guoshi (Mentioned in 1681), Delegate
e Chou-Qi Chon (Mentioned in 1681), Delegate
e Delegates of Fuzhou (Mentioned in 1681)
= BuYuan Yao Qisheng (1677-1683), Bu Yuan/Zongdu of Fuzhou and Fujian
= BuYuan Wan Zhengse (1678 — 1687), Bu Yuan/Zongdu of Fujian and Fuzhou

Quintang:
= BuYuan Wu Xingzuo (1681 — 1689), Bu Yuan/Zongdu of Guangdong and Guangxi
= Bu Yuan Shi-Liu (1689 — 1702), Bu Yuan/Zongdu of Guangdong and Guangxi

e Mandarins in Quintang (Mentioned in 1735 — 1741)

= Chuo-Yok Chou-Woh (Mentioned in 1740)
=  Hoppo Che-Li Hin-Cheng Toa-Lo (Mentioned in 1739)
=  Shoa-La Lin Bu-Chi So Toa-Lo (Mentioned in 1739)

Xiamen:
=  Koxinga (Zheng Chenggong) (Mentioned in 1657), conqueror of Taiwan
=  Pinqua (Mentioned in 1661)

South Asia

India and Ceylon/Sri-Lanka:

Ahmedabad (Gujarat)

= Mir Mosa (Mentioned in 1644), Governor of Cambay
= Nawab Muhammed Amichan (Mentioned between 1677 — 1682)

Bengal (Murshidabad):

= Timanik (Mentioned in 1642), Raja Bengal



= Khan Dauran (Amir al-Umara) (Mentioned in 1666), Nawab Bengali; Viceroy of
Bengal
= Ashraf Ali Khan (1759 — 1770)

Bhatkal:
= Wira Badranik (Mentioned in 1642), Lord of Bhatkal
Bijapur:

= Muhammed Adil Shah (Gazi) (1627-1656)

Ali Adil Shah 11 (1656-1672)

= Bari Sahiba (Beri Sahibi) (Mentioned between 1661-1663), queen of Bijapur, wife of Ali
Adil Shah II, Daughter of Mohammed Adil Shah,

Calicut (Kerala):

= Manavikraman VI Bharani Tiruna (1684 — 1705)
= Zamorin of Kerala (Mentioned in 1719)

Cochin/Kochi:

= VeeraKerala Varma V (Birola) (1663-1687)
e Baba Patara (Mentioned in 1678), merchant
e Primbala (Mentioned in 1678), merchant
e Pulicar Naique (Mentioned in 1678), merchant
e Wauana (Mentioned in 1680), merchant
= RamaVarmal lll (1687 — 1693)
= RaviVarmall (1693 — 1697)
= RamaVarma IV (1697 —1701)
= RamaVarmaV (1701 -1721)
= RaviVarmalll (1721 -1731)
= RamaVarma VI (1731 -1746)
e Babba Porbu (Mentioned in 1694), merchant
e Paljette Cami (Mentioned in 1707 — 1708), Cochiniese warlord
e Jesuit Johannes Sibert (Mentioned in 1741)
e Chansellors at Cochin (Mentioned in 1694 — 1708)
e Raja Wayin (Mentioned in 1771)
e Fatahydar (Mentioned in 1766)

Colombo:

=  Dom Philippo de Mascarenhas (1630-1645), Portuguese Captain General
e Don Filippo Mascarenhas (Mentioned in 1641)
=  Francisco de Mendosa Manuel (Mentioned in 1682)(Captian Moor), Captain of merchant
ship
=  Robert Lindsay (Mentioned in 1682), Merchant
=  Merchants from Limau (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Captain Sahon Galing (Mentioned in 1766)

Colombo (exiles):



= Kapitan Laut of Ambon (Mentioned in 1682)
* Kimelaha Hasi (Mentioned in 1682)
e Sangaji Lamoyta (Mentioned in 1682)
e Orang-Kaya Masahur (Mentioned in 1682)
= Polamolo Il Tomito (1674- 1681), exiled in 1681
e Gogugu of Gorontalo (mentioned in 1682), exiled in 1681
e Kapitan Laut (mentioned in 1682), exiled to Colombo
= llato (Ju Panggola, To Tilajo llato) (1671-1681), exiled in 1681
e Gogugu of Limboto (mentioned in 1682), exiled in 1681
=  Sangaji of Sula (mentioned in 1682)
= Sheikh Yusuf (Shaykh Yusuf al-Magasari) (Mentioned between 1679-1689), mufti of
Sultan Ageng, exiled in 1684
= Raja ‘Bea’ of Gorontalo (Mentioned in 1689 — 1696)
= Daeng Mangala (Mentioned 1695 — 1701), commander of the milites on the fleet of
Paulus Huntum
e Daeng Nisali (Mentioned in 1681), First wife of Commander Daeng Mangala
and Sister of Karaeng Panaraga
e Daeng Mamo (Mentioned in 1681), Second wife of Commander Daeng Mangala
= Arung Teko (Mentioned in 1702), exiled in 1702
=  Pangeran Arya Purbaya (Jaka Umbaran), exiled in 1716
=  Raden Sake (Mentioned in 1720), exiled in 1716
= Surapati's heirs (Mentioned in 1726 — 1732)
= Kyai Panji Surengrana (Arya Wiranegara) (Mentioned in 1731), exiled in 17233
=  Pangeran Mas (Mentioned in 1768)
=  Tumenggung Sasrenagura (Mentioned in 1768)
= Kaicili Cadar Alam (Mentioned in 1787 — 1792)
=  Gogugu Kaicili Naimudin (of Bacan; Mentioned in 1788 — 1792)
=  Kaicili Alimudin (of Bacan; Mentioned in 1788)
=  Babatos of Tidore (Mentioned in 1789)
= Sultan Patra Alam (Tidore, exiled in 1783)
e Brother of Patra Alam (Mentioned in 1790)
e Son of Jalaluddin Shah, appointed as Kapita Laut 10th December 1764. Exiled to
the Cape of Good Hope, 3rd October 1775
=  Anas Madina Batara Gowa (Mentioned in 1786 — 1787)
=  Siti Hapipa (Mentioned in 1786 — 1807), widow of Sultan Abdul Hadi

Cranganore:
=  Romormo (Mentioned in 1678), King of north-Cranganore

Daman
=  Deserter from Daman (Mentioned in 1641)

Deccan Plateau:
= Nawab Azam Khan (Mentioned in 1637), Subahdar of Bengal and regent of Decca
= Nawab Kankanan Supesalar (Chanchannan Supphesalaer) (Mentioned between 1661-
1663), Regent of Decca

2 K. Ward, Networks of empire. Forced migration in the Dutch East India Company (New York: Cambridge University Press 2009): 207.
3 Ward, Networks of empire: 207; M.C. Ricklefs, A History of Modern Indonesia since c. 1300 (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1981, 2" ed.
1993): 87.



Dhaka:

Gingee

e Mir Shah Abdullah (Mentioned in 1663), Son of the Nawab of Decca

Shaista Khan (Mirza Abu Talib)(1664-1688)
Dewan Hagi Soffichan (Mentioned in 1682)
Dewan Maulut Behq (Mentioned in 1682)

Kistapa Naik (Mentioned between 1643-1645)

Golconda (Hyderabad):

After the fall of Golconda on September 22, 1687, it became a part of the six Mughal provinces in the

Deccan

Hooghly:

Kanara:

Kandy:

Kayamkulam:

Kolathunadu:

Machilipatnam:

Mir Sarchil (Mentioned in 1642), Regent of Golconda
Abul Hasan Qutb Shah (1672 — 1687)
e Mirza Masum (Mentioned in 1681)

Melck Kassem (mentioned between 1681 — 1682)
The Duwani of the Deccan

Somashker Nayaka (1660-1671)
e Malapa Malu (Saraswat Malapa Malu) (1656-1666), Prominent rice trader

Rajasinghe Il (Rajasimha Il, Rajasinha Il) (1629 — Nov./Dec. 1686 [6 December 1687
according to the daghregisters])

e Vigo Paella (Mentioned in 1643), Brother of Rajasinha Il of Kandy

e Mustapha of Kandy (1637-1645), Trustee of Bijapur

*  Robert Knox (Mentioned in 1680), Prisoner at the court
Unambuve Bandara (1747 — 1782), pretender to the throne

Raja Kayamkulam (Mentioned between 1663-1715)

Ali Raja (Mentioned in 1769 — 1771)

Mir Shahid Ali (Mentioned in 1641), Governor of Machilipatnam
Ananta Das (Mentioned in 1663), ruler of Machilipatnam
Reccapally Hayapa Chetim[?] (Mentioned in 1701)



Mughal Empire (Delhi):

= Shahabuddin Muhammad Shah Jahan (1628-1658)
= (Muhy-ud-din Muhammad) Aurangzeb (Alamgir) (1658 — 1707)
=  Bahadur Shah | (1707 — 1712)
e Nawabs and Duans of the Mughal empire (Mentioned in 1702)

Nagapattinam:

=  Muhammad Sultan Sahudin (Mentioned in 1757)
=  Jipunatja (Mentioned in 1757)
= Mukhirin (Mentioned in 1757)

Nagara/lkkeri/Keladi/Bednur:

The Kings of Ikkeri, also known as the Nayakas of Keladi or Bednore were an Indian dynasty based from
Keladi, who gained independence after the fall of the Vijayanagara Empire and ruled as independent kings
in lkkeri, Keladi or Bidanur (now known as Nagara).

=  Somashekara Nayaka Il (1714 — 1739)
Pulicat:

=  Linga Sili (Mentioned in 1766)
Fort Sindhudurg:

=  Shivaji Pandit (Mentioned in 1740)
Surat:

0 Mughal Governors and Merchants:
=  Governor Ghiyas-ud-din (Khan) (Mentioned between 1675-1677)
= Narrendad Nanai (Mentioned in 1681), merchant
=  Governor Governor Nayabat Khan (1690 — 1693)
= Governor Dilawar Khan (1693 — 1701)
= Governor Itibar Khan (Mentioned in 1704)
=  Governor Amanat Khan (1707 — 1713)
=  Mir Hafiz ud-din Ahmad Khan (27 Feb. 1763 — Mar. 1790)
e Rigsigdas (merchant) (Mentioned in 1699 — 1728)
e Birsigdas (merchant) (Mentioned in 1701 — 1708)
*  Muhammad Mahasan (merchant) (Mentioned in 1695)
e Benjanin Surat (merchant) (Mentioned in 1729)
e Official from Surat (Mentioned in 1765)
e Merchants in Surat

Thanjavur:

=  Maharaja Thuljaji (16 Dec. 1763 — 1787)
e Amar Singh (1787 — 1793), regent



*  Wedant Ajen (Mentioned in 1780), amabssador of the VOC in Thanjajur
Thengapattanam:

= Bulacan Tarmi (Bulagan Tarmi, Bulakan Tarmi) (Mentioned in 1663), Governor of

Thengapattanam
Vellore:
=  Venkata lll (?-1642)
e Acca Panik (Mentioned in 1642), Brother of Venkata Ill
=  Sriranga lll (Raja Vijayanagara)(1642-1678)
Vengurla:
=  Polpotneyck (Mentioned in 1673), Merchant
Wasiwaska:
= Damera Ajapanik (Mentioned in 1642), Village head
Southeast Asia:
Cambodja:
(Oudong/Udong):
=  Ramathipadi | (Preah Bat Samdech Ramathipadi |, Ponhea Chan)(1642-1658)
e Orang Kaya Subuja Diba Ajaks Jun (Mentioned in 1657)
e Syahbandar Cambodia (Mentioned in 1657)
=  Barom Reachea V (Paramaraja IX, Preah Bat Samdech Barom Reachea V) (1658-1672)
e Encik Hassan (Mentioned in 1664), Oja Sari Maharasia, (prior to going to
Oudong) Captain of Malays in Batavia
e Oknia Kahum (Mentioned between 1671-1672)
=  Chey Chettha Ill (Padumaraja Il, Preah Bat Samdech Chey Chettha Ill) (1672-1673)
= Kaev Huall (1673-1674)
= Chey Chettha IV (Preah Bat Samdech Chey Chettha IV, Yang de Pertuan) (1675 — 1695,
1696 — 1699, 1700 — 1702 and 1703 — 1706)
Myanmar:

Arakan [Rakhine] (Launggyet/Mrauk U):

= Thri Thudhamma Salim Shah 11 (1622-1638)
e Loskor Zuzil (Mentioned in 1637), Upper Eunuch of the Arakan king
=  Sanda Thudhamma (1652 — 1684)

Ava:
=  Thalun (Thakin Gyi) (1629-1648)



Philippines:

Maguindanao (Cotabato):

=  Muhammad (Dipatuan) Kudarat (Nasir ud-Din) (1619-1671)
= Sultan Barahaman (Sultan Muhammad Shah Minulu-sa-Rahmatullah) (1678-1699)
= Sultan Kaharudin Kuda (Maulana Amir ul-Umara Jamal ul-Azam) (1699 — 1702)
=  Sultan Bayan ul-Anwar (Maruhom Batua; Dipatuan Jalal ud-Din Mupat Batua
[posthumously]) (1702 — 1736)
= Sultan Muhammad Tahir ud-Din (1736 — 1748)
e Viceroy of Maguindanao

Sulu:
=  Sultan Nasir ud-Din Il (1619-1671)
=  Sultan Salahud-Din Bakhtiar (Pangiran Bactial, Marhum Karamat) (1649-1680), Sultan of
Sulu based in Jolo

Ayutthaya (Kings of Ayutthaya/Siam):

The Kingdom of Ayutthaya was destroyed during the Burmese—Siamese War of 1765—-1767). Consequently,
Takhsin, the ruling Monarch retreated to Thonburi (now part of Bangkok) and repulsed the Birmese. His
successor, Rama |, moved the capital across the river to its current location in Bangkok in 1782.

=  Prasat Thong (Prasatthong Sanphet V) (1629-1656)
=  (Somdet Phra) Narai (1633 — 11 Jul. 1688)
e Praya Chula Rachamontri IV (“Chen”) (Mentioned in 1687)
e Phra Khlang Darmarat Ditsia Ciat (Mentioned in 1641)
e Okphra Singh Norat (Baron Singh Norat) (Mentioned in 1664)
e Phra Khlang Okia Siri Diri Merahia (1661-1665)
e Phra Khlang Chao Phraya Siri Derimaraja (Mentioned between 1664-1669)
e Phra Khlang Sitar Marat Dihachat Amat Teya Michi Pajuti Ratenarat Cha Kufa
Tiodi Periapaha (Mentioned in 1684)
e Bishop Louis (Mentioned in 1679), French regent of Ayutthaya and Bishop of
Metellopoli and Apostoli
e Gayme R. Forget (Mentioned in 1673), French priest
e Juan Gutierrez (Mentioned between 1674-1678)
= (Phra) Phetracha Ramesuen Il (1688 —1703)
*  Phra Sinorat (Mentioned in 1689)
e PhraKhlang Chao Phraya Kosathibodi (? — 1693)
*  Resident Kon Man Wan (Mentioned in 1701)
=  Suriyenthrathibodi (Somdet Phra Sanphet VIII; King Petraja, Luang Sorasak "Phra Chao
Sua”) (1703 —1709)
e Oya Sebertibaan (Mentioned in 1707)
= Thai Sa (Sanphet IX; Phumintharacha Thai Sa) (1709 — Jan. 1733)
e Abdul Latief (Mentioned in 1725)
e Syahbandar Uluwang Cudek Rasati (Mentioned in 1732)
= Borommakot (Maha Dharmaracha Il (Somdet Phrachaoyuhua Borommakot/Somdet
Phra Boromaracha Dhiraj lll) (Jan. 1733 - 13 Apr. 1758)
e Phra Chula Raya (Mentioned in 1726)



=  Ekathat (Aug. 1758 — 7 Apr. 1767)
e Unknown Prakhlangs (1693 — 1767)
e Chao Phraya Phra Khlang (Mentioned in 1755 — 1792)
= Interregnum (7 Apr. 1767 — 28 Dec. 1767)
e  Pia Pipat Kosa (Mentioned in 1769 — 1770), deputy of the Phra Klang
e LiFaLe Kho (Mentioned in 1801), syahbandar
e An official from Siam (Mentioned in 1771 — 1807)
e Grand Warehouse Master of Ayutthaya (Mentioned in 1792)
e Pingie Pakkan (Mentioned in 1805)

Ligor:
=  Viceroy of Ligor (Mentioned 1684 — 1685)

Patani:
= Datu Bendahara Patani (Mentioned in 1636), Syahbandar Patani and Mandarin of Patani
*  Raja Nuh (1729 - 1750)

Songkhla:
= Sultan Mustapha (1670-?), Sultan of Singora

Vietnam:

Annam (Phia Xuan/Hué) (Nguyen lords; in VOC documents: Quinam):

=  Rokubei Hiranoya (1636-1640)

e Tahei Shiomura (1642-1660), Captain of the Japanese in Cochinchina
= Nguyén Phic Tan (1648-1687)
= Nguyén Phic Trén (1687 — 1691)

Tonkin (Hanoi) (Trinh lords):

=  Trinh Trang (1623-1657)
e (Capado) Ongiadee (Mentioned between 1653-1656)
=  Trinh Tac (Anam Kokong) (1657-1682)
*  Nguyén Quéc Trinh (Mentioned 1663-1670), Viceroy of Tonkin?
e Annam Kock Suong (Chaq Cong Cong) (Mentioned between 1661 and 1682),
Viceroy of Tonkin
e Syahbandar Wada Rysayemon (Mentioned in 1663), Syahbandar Tonkin
e Fray Dionisio Morales (Juan de Arjona y Dionisio Morales) (Mentioned between
1678 — 1681), Spanish Dominican priest
e FrayJuan de Archona (Mentioned in 1681), Spanish Dominican priest
e Riseymon (Mentioned in 1661), Japanese visitor
= Chua Trinh Can (Dinh Vuong) (1682 — 1709)
e Trinh Bay (Mentioned 1686 — 1697)

Malaysian Peninsula:

Johor:



Kedah:

Indragiri:

Abdul Jalil Shah Ill (Raja Bujang) (1623-1677)
e Paduka Raja (Sri Paduka Tun Pikrama Tun Habib ‘Abdu’l Majid bin Tun Mat ‘Ali,
Datu Bendahara Sri Maharaja, Datu Laksamana) (mentioned between 1637-
1682), Stepfather of Tun Habib Abdul Majid
e Tun Habib Abdul Majid (Datu Seri Maharaja, Datu Paduka Raja Riau, Bendahara
Paduka Raja Tun Habib) (1677 — 1697), Bendahara of Riau
Mahmud Il of Johor (1685 — 3 Sep. 1699)
e Dato’ Bendahara Sri Maharaja (1699 — 1708), Bendahara
Sultan Abdul Jalil IV (1699 — 1720)
e Orang Kaya Sri Naraderaja (1706)
e RajaIndra Bongsu Abdul Majid (Mentioned in 1706)
e Dato Tumenggung Paduka Tuan of Muar (Paduka Tuan) (Mentioned in 1707)
e Panglima Laut (1707 — 1715)
Sultan Sulaiman Badrul Alam Shah (1721 — 20 Aug. 1760)
e Opu Daeng Marewa (Mentioned in 1725)
Sultan Mahmud Il (Sultan Abdul Jalil Shah) ((1761 — 12 Jan 1811), Johor was de facto
controlled by regent Daeng Kemboja in1761 — 1770, and by a special Regency Council in
1770—7 Feb 1787
e RajaAli (1784 — 1806), Yang Dipertuan Muda
e Raja Angke Mudah (Mentioned in 1800), Raja Riau
e RajaIndra Bongsu (Raja Lingga)
e Raja Hiler (Mentioned in 1778)
e Pangeran Sarta (Mentioned in 1779)
e Daeng Cambodia (Mentioned in 1771)

Sultan Rijaluddin Muhammad Shah (1625-1651)
Abdullah Mukarram Shah 1l (23 Sep 1778 - 1 Sep 1797)
Ziyauddin Mukarram Shah Il ibni al-Marhum Sultan Muhammad Jiwa Zainal Azilin
Muadzam Shah (1 Sep. 1797 — 19 Sep. 1803)
e Tuan Ku Ibrahim (Mentioned in 1803 — 1802)

Sultan (Raja) Jamaluddin Kramatsyah (1599-1658)
Sultan Jamaluddin Sulemansyah (1658-1669)
e YangdiPertuan (Mentioned between 1665-1680), minister not the Sultan
himself
* Yang Dipertuan Menjuta (Mentioned in 1668), regent of Menjuta
e Datu Tumenggung (Mentioned between 1666-1668)
e Orang Kaya Siri Jamar Wangsa (Mentioned in 1667)
e Orang Kaya Siri Mara Wangsa (Mentioned in 1667)
e Syahbandar Datu Indragiri (Mentioned between 1667-1678)
e Syahbandar Orang-Kaya Raja Duwa (Mentioned in 1667)
Sultan Jamaluddin Mudayathsyah (1669-1676)
e Raja Muda Laksamana (Mentioned in 1666)
Sultan Usuludin Ahmadsyah (1676-1687)
Sultan Salehuddin Keramatsyah (1735 — 1765)
Dato Bendahara Indragiri (Mentioned in 1756)



Malacca:

= Nachoda Duwelasi (Mentioned in 1674)
=  Yudaningrat (Mentioned in 1687)
0 Syahbandar Malacca (Mentioned in 1684)
= Raja Alam (Mentioned in 1761)
= Said Ali bin Muhammad Maharbi (Mentioned in 1799 — 1800)

Pahang:
= In personal union with Johor (1623 — 1853), eventually becoming a fief of the
Bendahara.*
Perak:
=  Sultan Muzaffar Shah Il (Sultan Muzaffar Shah Il Ibni Almarhum Raja Mahmud) (1636-
1654)
= Sultan Mahmud Iskandar Shah (Paduka Siri Sultan Mahommed Lilulla Filalem and Raja
Sitia Muda) (1653-1720)
Selangor:
= Sultan Ibrahim Shah (1778 — 27 Oct. 1826)
Terengganu:

= Sultan Mansur Shah | (1733 — 1793)
= Sultan Zainal Abidin Il (1793 — 1808)

Indonesian archipelago:

Java/Bali:
Arau Wukan (unknown):

=  QOrang Kaya's of Arau Wukan (Mentioned in 1799), unknown

Badung:

= Kyai Anglurah Pamecutan Sakti (Gusti Made Ubud) (Mentioned in 1717)
= Gusti Ngurah Made Pamecutan | (1760 — 1779/1788[?])
=  Gusti Ngurah Made Pamecutan Il (1779/1788[?] — 1813)

e Cucunda Raja Mudah Gusti Gede Ngurah (Mentioned in 1809)

Bali/Klungkung:

After the demise of the ruler of Gelgel in 1651 internal fighting broke out and the internecine trouble
continued in the next decades. The royal minister Anglurah Agung set himself up as ruler of Gelgel from at
least 1665 but encountered opposition from various corners. Finally, in 1686, Anglurah Agung fell in battle
against the nobleman Batulepang. After this event, a scion of the old royal line called Dewa Agung Jambe

4See: http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Malay states.htm#Pahang [2-6-2015].




established himself as the new upper ruler, with his seat in Klungkung (Semarapura). The Klungkung
kingdom would last until the 20th century. However, the new kingdom was unable to gather the elite
groups on Bali like Gelgel had done. The rulers (Dewa Agung) of Klungkung continued to hold the position
as paramount kings, but in fact the island was split up in several minor kingdoms.

= Raja Calerang (Mentioned in 1657), Lord of Badung

=  Raja Longnan (Mentioned in 1658),

= Gusti (Ngurah) Panji Sakti (c. 1660-1697), Raja Buleleng

= Gusti Jambe Pule (Gusti Bebed) (before 1660- c.1683), Raja Badung and Son of Gusti

Ngurah Papak

=  Gusti Agung (of Badung) (Mentioned in 1665)

=  Gusti Pandi (Mentioned in 1666)

=  Anglurah Agung (of Gelgel) (1665 — 1686)

= QGusti Alit (Oka)(Mentioned in 1672), Raja Sewang

= Dewa Agunglambe | (1686 — 1722)
e Kapitan Waeng Encik (Mentioned in 1706), Captain of Balinese regiment
e Kapitan Prompok (Mentioned in 1706), Captain of Balinese regiment

= Dewa Agung Gedé (Surawirya) (1722 — 1736)
e Gusti Panji Danurdarastra (Mentioned in 1732)

= Dewa Agung Putra | Kusamba (ca. 1790 — 1809)

= Dewa Agung Putra | Kusamba (c. 1790-1809)

Bandung (Timbanganten):

=  Tumenggung Wira Angun-angun (Tumenggung Wira Angongangong) (1641-1681),
Regent
e Tumenggung Wiradedaha (Mentioned 1676-1680)
= Dalem Tenjolaya (Anggadiredja |, Dalem Tenjolaya Demang Timbanganten and Sunan
Gorda) (1681 — 1704), Father of Raden Angareja
e Kranasuta (Mentioned in 1681)
=  Tumenggung Anggadiredja | (Raden Ardisuta) (1704 — 1707)
=  Tumenggung Anggadiredja Il (1707 — 1747)
= |da Dewa Anum (Mentioned in 1717)
e Ombul Dipanegara (Mentioned in 1706)
= Raden Arya Wiranatakusuma | (Raden Anggadireja Ill) (1769 — 1794)

Banten:®

= Sultan Abdul Mufahir (Sultan Abdul Mufahir Mahmud Abdul Kadir) (1605-1640)
=  Sultan Abu al-Ma'ali Ahmad (1640-1650)
=  Sultan Ageng Tirtayasa, (Abu’lfath Abu’lfatah, Pangeran Surya) (1651 — 1683)
e Syahbandar Kai Tsu (Mentioned 1657), Syahbandar of Chinese community in
Banten
e Kyai Arya Mangjaya (Mentioned in 1659), Brother of Sultan Agung Tirtayasa
e Pangeran Arya Elor (Mentioned in 1659), Eldest brother of Sultan Agung
Tirtayasa
e Raden Ukersari (Mentioned in 1661)

5 See: Atsushi Ota, Changes of regime and social dynamics in west Java: society, state and the outer world of Banten (Leiden/Boston: Brill,
2006), C. Guillot, Banten: sejarah dan peradaban abad X-XVII (Jakarta: KPG 2008): 194 and J. Thalens, ‘Het sultanaat Banten en de VOC’ in: E.
Locher-Scholten and P. Rietbergen (eds.), Hof en handel, Aziatische vorsten en de VOC 1620-1720 (Leiden: KITLV Press 2004).



Kyai Arya Manonjaya (Mentioned in 1661)
Mangkubumi Pangeran Mandura (Mentioned between 1661-1674)
Pangeran Arya (Ho) Papati (Mentioned in 1663)
Kaytsu (Mentioned between 1671-1673), Chinese Syahbandar Banten
Sydo (Mentioned in 1672), acquaintance of Patre Maurice
Kyai Arya Mangongjaya (Mentioned in 1672)
Pangeran Arya Kulong (Mentioned in 1672)
Pangeran Arya Lor (Mentioned in 1676), Son of Sultan Abdul Ma'Ali Ahmad
Sheikh Yusuf (Shaykh Yusuf al-Magqasari) (Mentioned between 1679-1689),
mufti of Sultan Ageng, exiled in 1684
Karaeng Ciaras (Mentioned in 1678)
Paduka Pangeran Abdul Halim Zamsul Alam (Mentioned in 1678)
Raden Rangga Nitinegara (Mentioned in 1679)
Ni Bonch-ko (Mentioned in 1679), Chinese merchant
Pangeran Kidul (Kidol) (Mentioned in 1680), Chief Commander of the Bantenese
forces
Pangeran Raksanegara (Tumenggung Raksanegara) (Mentioned in 1680),
Leader of the Bantenese palace guards and regent of Cirebon under Sultan
Agung Tirtayasa
Kyai Arya Mangsodana (Mentioned in 1680)
Kyai Arya Mongonsadana (Mentioned in 1680)
Kyai Ngabehi Astrajaya (Mentioned in 1680)
Pangeran Arya Ardikassuma (Mentioned in 1680)
Wira Antaka (Mentioned in 1680)
Kyai Arya Yang Patih (Mentioned in 1682), viceroy Sultan Ageng
Kyai Arya Naija (Mentioned in 1682)
Kyai Arya KasumadiWangsa (Mentioned in 1682)
Pangeran Angyuja (Mentioned in 1682)
Pangeran Kulon (Pangeran Kulong ) (Mentioned between 1681-1682), probably
exiled
Pangeran Natanegara (Mentioned in 1682)
Chinese from Tirtayasa (Mentioned in 1682)
Kyai Ngabehi Sakradana (Mentioned in 1682), Muslim Chinese functioning as
Syahbandar of Banten
Ngabehi Sudraprama (Mentioned in 1682), Soldier
Arya Jewentaka (Mentioned in 1682)
Abdul Rakim (Mentioned in 1682), courtier
Encik Amar (Mentioned between 1676 — 1680), Malay warlord
0 Encik Bujang (Mentioned in 1681), Malay warlord
Nala (Mentioned in 1682), Delegate
Kyai Arya Singawijaya (Mentioned in 1682), Delegate
Ngabehi Ruja (Mentioned in 1681), Noble
Demang Singa (Mentioned in 1681), Noble

Widara (Mentioned in 1681), Noble
Ngabehi Deryamangaba (Mentioned in 1681), Noble



e Yugabey Suradiata (Mentioned in 1681), Noble
e Jayaderpa (Mentioned in 1681), Noble
e Depati Sacradilaga (Cilividara ) (Mentioned in 1680)
e Syahbandar Sakradana (Mentioned in 1682),
e Lords of Banten (Mentioned in 1681)
= Sultan Haji (Sultan Abu Nasr Abdul Kahhar/Abu ‘n-Nasr ‘Abd al Qahhar; Sultan Haggi)

(1682 — 1687)

e Sayyid Sheikh (Mentioned in 1680), Chief Imam of Sultan Haji

e Raden Mandaraka (Mentioned in 1682), Son of Sultan Agung Tirtayasa, Brother
of Sultan Haji

e Pangeran Dipaningrat (Prime minister, mangkubumi/wazir [wazir] under Sultan
Haji), (1682 — 1690)

e Pangeran Arya Purbaya (Jaka Umbaran) (1683 — 1716), exiled to Colombo in
1716

e Kyai Ngabehi Inya (Mentioned in 1682), Regent of Pagutan

e (Raden Sake, exiled to Colombo in 1716; see above)

e Pangeran Yudaningrat (Mentioned in 1682), Father of Pangeran Kusumaningrat
/

e Jacob de Roy (Jacob Janssen de Roy) (Mentioned in 1682)

e Da'ud Sulaiman (Mentioned in 1682), probably an Arabic or South Asian
merchant

e Kyai Agus Ramusraja (Mentioned in 1682)

e Aryaliwa Antaka (Mentioned in 1682)

e Dipati WangsadiPanga (Mentioned in 1682)

= Sultan Abdul Fadhl Muhammad Yahya (1687 — 1690)

e Pangeran Dipati (son of Sultan Haji) (Mentioned in 1688 — 1689)

e Ratu Panembahan (Mentioned in 1688)

e Pangeran Ngayogya (Mentioned in 1688)

e Isa Sultana (wife of Sultan Haji) (Mentioned in 1688)

e Pangeran Tajuddin (Mentioned in 1688 — 1711)

e Pangeran Muhammad Salim (Mentioned in 1689)

e KiArya Sutawicastra (Mentioned in 1690)
e Pangeran (Tumenggung) Raxanegara (Mentioned in 1690 — 1704)
e Kyai Arya Jayasedana (Mentioned in 1692)

= Sultan Abul Mahasin Zainul Abidin (1690 — 1733)

e Pangeran Yudanegara (Tumenggung Yudanegara) (Mentioned in 1690 — 1704)
e Tumenggung Purwasadana (Mentioned in 1693)

e Arya Sutantaka (Mentioned in 1695), wazir
e KiArya Natasedana (Mentioned in 1700)
e Dipati Humbanegara (Mentioned in 1704)

e Kyai Arya Sayadimarta (Mentioned in 1707)
e Pangeran Arya Purbanegara (Mentioned in 1711 — 1741), wazir

e Pangeran Citrayuda (Mentioned in 1715)

e Pangeran Citranegara (Mentioned in 1716 — 1739)
e Muhammad Ali (Mentioned in 1731)

e Pangeran Cisnayuda (Mentioned in 1732)



e Kyai Arya Wangsa Utama (Mentioned in 1732)
= Sultan Muhammad Wasi Zainifin (1733 — 1750)

e Kyai Arya Salamarta (Mentioned in 1739)
e Pangeran Arya Kusumaningrat (Mentioned in 1741)
e Pangeran Tajul Alam (Mentioned in 1741)
= Sultan Muhammad Arif Zainul Asyikin (1753 — 1777)
e Pangeran Kasumaningrat (Mentioned in 1757)
e Pangeran Suradilaga (Mentioned in 1766), wazir
0 Raja Kusuma (Mentioned in 1764)
Tobagus Hasanuddin (Mentioned in 1764)
Tobagus Abu Khaer (Mentioned in 1764)
Tobagus Muhammad Saleh (Mentioned in 1764)
Tobagus Syahir (Mentioned in 1764)
= Sultan Abul Mafakir Muhammad Aliyuddin (1777 — 1802 and 1808 — 1810
= Sultan Muhammad Muhyiddin (1802 — 1805), exiled to Ambon in 1803
0 Haji Ahmad Maskur (Mentioned in 1800)
0 Raja Mahmud Maskur (Mentioned in 1800)
0 Pangeran Ratu Muhiddin (Mentioned in 1802)
=  Sultan Ishaq (1805 — 1808), mentioned as Pangeran Muhyuddin in 1800 — 1803
e Pangeran Wargadiraja (Mentioned in 1804), wazir
= Sultan Abul Mafakir Muhammad Aliyuddin (1808 — 1810)
= Sultan Muhammad Safiuddin (1810 — 1811)
e Pangeran Arya Wirasamara (Mentioned in 1811)
e Pangeran Ahmad (Mentioned in 1812)

O O O O

Bangil (Pasuruan):

= Makassarese at Bangil (Mentioned in 1677)
=  Tumenggung Jayalalana (Mentioned in 1698)

Batang:
= Kyai Ngabehi Nitiyuda (Mentioned in 1659), Regent of Batang
=  Umar of Batang (Mentioned in 1707)
= Raja Ajerhaje (Mentioned in 1710)
=  The Ombols of Batang (Mentioned in 1717)
Batavia:

= Henry Hawley (1625-1628), EIC President

=  Francisco de Andrade Costa (Mentioned in 1641), Portuguese prisoner in Batavia

=  Collet (Mentioned in 1670), French East India Company Shipper on the St. Francoys

=  Kapitan Manipa (Mentioned in 1674), Commander of VOC troops

=  Limlacco (Ling La-Sho) (Mentioned between 1675-1680), Chinese translator

=  Fredericus Gueynier (Mentioned in 1677), Maleysian preacher and Coauthor of the
'Maleische Woord-boek-sameling'



=  Kapitan Patrawangsa (Mentioned in 1679), Sergeant of Javanese VOC troops
= Kapitan Mangis (Mentioned in 1679), Commander of the Balinese VOC troops and
Owner of an estate near 'Meester-Cornelis'
= Dirasaraya (Mentioned in 1679), Javanese farmer in the ommelanden of Batavia
=  Caleazo (Mentioned in 1680), Italian soldier in Batavia
= Benjamin Crawford (Mentioned in 1682), Regent of the British East India Company on
Java
=  Chinese merchants in Batavia (Mentioned in 1678-1682)
e QuUqu (Mentioned in 1667),
e BaAn-Qua (Mentioned in 1678), merchant from Chinseuw
e Bu Chi-Qua (Mentioned in 1678), merchant from Canton
e Chong Lauw (Mentioned in 1678), merchant from Canton
e Chen Hin-Qua (Mentioned in 1679), merchant from Canton
e Qu Poi-Qua (Mentioned in 1679), merchant
e Ganthen-Qua (Mentioned in 1680)
*  Cuko (Mentioned in 1680)
*  Suko (Mentioned in 1680)
*  Quinquo
e Que Chong-Quo (Que Konko) (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Portuguese merchants in Batavia (Mentioned in 1682)
e Joan de Mello Thome Vieira, merchant based in Madraspatnam
* Joan de Silva
*  Antonio Gusalves de Britto
*  Manuel de Costa
¢ Thomas d'Almeyda
e Louis d'Almeyda
=  Longmosingar (Mentioned in 1682), Widow of Daeng Mangika
= Nanga Pandey Lampija (Mentioned in 1682), Commander of the Asian legion in Batavia
e Sadati (Mentioned in 1682),
e Abin (Mentioned in 1682),
e Sacarsaya (Mentioned in 1682),
e Tombohan (Mentioned in 1682),
= Karaeng Ago (Mentioned in 1682), Part of the Sulawesian troops in Batavia
=  Daeng Manyuni (Mentioned in 1682), Part of the Buginese troops in Batavia
= Daeng Pole (Mentioned in 1682), Part of the Buginese troops in Batavia
= Daeng Nasayu (Mentioned in 1682), Part of the Buginese troops in Batavia
=  Kapitan Jonker (Tete Jonker, Captain Jonker ) (Mentioned between 1676-1682),
Commander of the Ambonese troops in Batavia
=  Kapitan Fanquon (Mentioned in 1682), Leader of the Chinese community in Batavia
e Kapitan Kingquon (Mentioned in 1682), Leader of the Chinese community in
Batavia
e Leaders of the Chinese community in Batavia (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Kapitan Nayagati (Mentioned in 1682), Commander of the Javanese VOC troops
=  Kapitan Tiben (Mentioned between 1681-1682), Commander of the Balinese VOC troops



=  (Lieutenant) Kapitan Sakrajaya (Mentioned in 1682), Commander of the Balinese troops
in Batavia

=  Kapitan Wan Abdul Bagus (Tuan Abdul Bagus, Kapitan Melayu) (Mentioned between
1677-1682), Commander of the Malay VOC troops

=  Kyai Ranga Surajaya Logor (Mentioned in 1683), Balinese resident at Batavia

= NgabehiJaya Derpagigir (Mentioned in 1683), Balinese resident at Batavia

= Ngebehi Derpa Jayagati (Mentioned in 1683), Balinese resident at Batavia

= Demang Ballilinge Bondalam (Mentioned in 1683), resident at Batavia
=  Kyai Ranga Surajaya Logor (Mentioned in 1683), resident at Batavia

Bekasi:®

=  Hu Yong Tiau (Mentioned in 1741), Chinese merchant [?] in Bekasi

Blambangan:

=  Raja Blambangan (Mentioned in 1670)
=  Mas Angapati Janingjasastra (Mentioned in 1719)

Bojong Lopang:
=  Tumenggung Wira Mantri (Mentioned in 1743)

=  Demang Warunala (Mentioned in 1739)
=  Demang Wengenala (Mentioned in 1739)

Brebes:
=  The widow of the regent of Brebes (Mentioned in 1743)
Buleleng:
= Sanglurah Panji [Gusti Panji Wayan Danurdarastr] (c. 1697 — 1732)
=  Gusti Gede Karang (1806 — 1818)
Chicondang:
= Ngabehi Mangonpati (Ngabehi Mangopati) (mentioned in 1682)
Ciamis:

=  Tumenggung Japati (Mentioned in 1711 — 1726)
= Raden Tumenggung Wiramnatri Il (1736 — 1762)

=  Wirautama Ciamis (Mentioned in 1739)
=  Tumenggung Warda Ulama (Mentioned in 1739)
= Demang Warganagala (Mentioned in 1741)

=  Tumenggung Yudanegara (of Ciamis) (Mentioned in 1741)

6 This person cannot be found in either Paul A. Van Dyke 's Merchants of Canton and Macao: Politics and Strategies in Eighteenth-Century or
Weng Eang Cheong's The Hong Merchants of Canton: Chinese Merchants in Sino-Western Trade, 1684-1798. Name might be mispelled.



=  Tumenggung Wirahutama (Mentioned in 1741)
*  Lords of Ciamis (Mentioned in 1741)

Cianjur:
e Kartisuta (Mentioned in 1678), Leader of the Balinese and other refugees in
Cianjur
e Nayabangsa (Mentioned between 1678-1679), Leader of the Balinese and other
refugees in Cianjur
e Sakrayuda (Cakrayuda) (Mentioned between 1678-1680), Leader of the
Balinese and other refugees in Cianjur and Gudu-Gudu
e Sandrawangsa (Mentioned in 1678), Leader of the Balinese and other refugees
in Cianjur
= (Raden) Arya Wiratanu | (Jayasasana) (1680-1691)
= Arya Wiratanu lll (1707 — 1727)
=  Adipati Wiratanudatar VI (1774 — 1813)
Ciasem:
=  Syahbandar Ciasem (Mentioned in 1664)
=  Makassarese at Ciasem (Mentioned in 1680)
= Ngabehi Kartayuda (mentioned between 1681 — 1720)
=  Ki Arya Wirasaba Javanese regent of Tanjungpura (Mentioned between 1678-1686)
= Mas Wirasuta (Mentioned in 1701)
= Lords of Ciasem (Mentioned in 1702)
Cibalagung:
=  Kyai Sria Nata Mangala (Mentioned in 1761)
Cigalugur:
=  Kyai Sutanegara (Mentioned in 1741)
Cileungsi:
=  Arsadita (Mentioned in 1678), Governor of Cileungsi
= Nayawangsa (Mentioned in 1710)
Cirebon:

The lineage of Cirebon was split up under influence of Banten into three different
Kraton’s. In 1705 it became a VOC-protectorate.

=  Panembahan Ratu | (Pangeran Emas) (1570-1649), Grandson of Sunan Gunung Jati
e Kraton Kasepuhan (Princes as Sultan Cirebon)
=  Sultan Sepuh | Syamsuddin (Pangeran Martawijaya; Sultan Sepuh Abil Makarimi
Muhammad Samsudin, Panembahan Sapa) (1662 — 1697)
e Syahbandar Cirebon (Mentioned in 1664)
e Kyai Nalapati (Mentioned between 1672-1673), Syahbandar Demak



e (Kyai) Ngabehi Wiralodra (mentioned between 1680 - 1682)
e Syahbandar (Ngabehi) Wirasamita (Mentioned between 1678-1682),
Syahbandar Cirebon
e (Kyai Mas) Nayaduta (Duta Watsana) (Mentioned between 1678-1680)
e Pangeran Sanadang (Mentioned in 1680)
Sultan Sepuh Il Jamaluddin (1697 — 1723)
e Pangeran Arya Cirebon Kamaruddin (1697 — 1723), co-ruler
e Widow of Sultan Sepuh | Syamsuddin (Mentioned in 1697 — 1698)
e Pangeran Martawijaja (see Demak), son of Pangeran Arya Cirebon
e Pangeran Adipati Anum (Mentioned 1698 — 1728), son of Sultan Sepuh |
Syamsuddin [?]
Sultan Sepuh Il Muhammad Zainuddin | (1723 — 1753)
Joharudin Sultan Sepuh VII (1791 — 1816)
e Tumenggung Widayaningrat (Mentioned in 1793)
e Tumenggung Jayajirja (Mentioned in 1793)

0 Kraton Kanoman (Princes as Sultan Anum)

Sultan Anom | Badruddin (Pangeran Kartawijaya; Sultan Anom Abil Makarimi
Muhammad Badrudin) (1662 — 1703)

Pangeran Dipati Hallar ad-Din (1703 — 1706)

Raja Kusuma (1706 — 1719)

Sultan Anom Il Muhammad Alimuddin (1719 - 1732)

Raja Tumenggung (1732 — 1744)

Sultan Anom IV Muhammad Khairuddin (1744 — 1798)

Sultan Anom Il Khairuddin (1797 — 1819)

0 Kraton Keprabonan (Princes as Panembahan Cirebon)

Panembahan Cirebon | Muhammad Nasaruddin (Pangeran Wangsakerta; Pangeran
Abdul Kamil Muhammad Nasarudin or Panembahan Tohpati) (1677 — 1714)
e Widow of Panembahan Cirebon | Muhammad Nasaruddin (Mentioned in 1715)
e Pangeran Mas Cirebon (Mentioned in 1716 — 1728), son of Panembahan
Cirebon |
e Pangeran Ratu Cirebon (Mentioned in 1696 — 1728)
Raja Tumenggung Keprabonan (1714 — 1725)
Panembahan Cirebon Il Muhammad Muhyiddin (1725 —1731)
Raja Tumenggung Secadipura (1731 — 1752), may be the same person as Raja
Tumenggung Keprabonan
e Syahbandar Kyai Arya Martanata (Mentioned in 1692 — 1714)

0 Various unverified nobles in Cirebon (1683 — 1811):

e Kyai Ranga Semanding (Mentioned in 1674)

e Pangeran Adipati Semanding (Mentioned in 1681)
e Raden Arya Suryadipura (Mentioned in 1686)

e Tumenggung Intipraja (Mentioned in 1694)

e Pangeran Suryanegara (Mentioned in 1700 — 1738)
e Arya Milipraja (Mentioned in 1708)

e Demang Neranata (Mentioned in 1708)

e Tan Siongko (Mentioned in 1708)

e Pangeran Rajaningrat (Mentioned in 1714)

e Tumenngung Nitiraja (Mentioned in 1717)

e Tumenggung Citradipura of Cirebon (Mentioned in 1725)
e Pangeran Dipati Topati (Mentioned in 1737)

e Ngabehi Pranadinata (Mentioned in 1745)

e Tumenggung Wiratmaka (Mentioned in 1794)



e Raden Adipati Notodirejo (Mentioned in 1808)
0 Lords of Cirebon (Mentioned in 1698 after the death of Sultan Sepuh |
and onward)

Damar Besar/Edam/Damar Tengah (exiles):

= Lords of Damar (Mentioned in 1664)

=  QOrang Kaya Keri (Mentioned in 1664)

=  Pangeran of Palembang on Damar Besar (Mentioned in 1719 — 1720)
=  Panglima Raja Johan (Mentioned in 1786)

=  Exiled ruler from Padang (Mentioned in 1775)

= Penghulu Maharaja Besar (Mentioned in 1786)

Demak:
=  Kentol Martadipa (Mentioned in 1661), Governor of Demak
=  Tumenggung Padmanegara (Pangeran Patmanegara) (Mentioned in 1695 — 1704)
e Mother of Tumenggung Padmanegara (Mentioned in 1696)
=  Tumenggung (Raden Arya) Suranata (Ni Tumenggung Suranata) (Mentioned between
1657 — 1725)
* NiHageng (Mentioned in 1706)
e Wife of Tumenggung Suranata (Mentioned in 1707)
e Mother of Tumenggung Suranata (Mentioned in 1707)
e Ngabehi Wiranegara (Mentioned in 1704)
e Ngabehi Martawidjaja (Mentioned in 1704 — 1723), son of Pangeran Arya
Cirebon (see above)
=  Sura Adimenggala V (1791 — 1809)
Demung:
= Datu Lowadin (Mentioned in 1676), Captain of the Malay forces among the
Makassarese exiles
=  Aru Ciong (Mentioned in 1676), Captain of the Malay forces among the Makassarese
exiles
= Daeng Maseri (Mentioned in 1676), Captain of the Malay forces among the
Makassarese exiles
Gabang:
=  Pangeran Sutajasa (Pangeran Sutajaya) (Mentioned in 1689)
Gemulak:
= Raden Ngabehi Wiryodiningrat (Mentioned in 1809)
Gianyar:
= Dewa Manggis V di Madya (1788 — ca. 1820)
Gresik:

=  Kyai Angsaraksa (Mentioned in 1663)



= Raden Ngabehi Naladita/Naladika (started rule in 1680), Mentioned between 1703 —
1704), regent of Gresik
= Raden Tumenggung Puspanegara (Mentioned in 1711 — 1741)

Imbanagara (Ciamis):

= Raden Adipati Angganaya (1678 — 1693)
=  Raden Adipati Sutadinata (1693 — 1707)

Indramayu:
=  Kyai Depati Carkralaga (Mentioned between 1678-1679), Commander of the Bantense
troops at Indramayu
=  Kyai Ngabehi Wiralodera (Mentioned between 1679-1682)
=  Ki Wirantaka (Mentioned in 1702)
Jampang:
= Ngabehi Nayawangala (Mentioned in 1700)
Jepara:
=  Kyai Demang Laksamana (1616-1648), Governor of Jepara
=  Kyai Wirasitia (Mentioned between 1648-1666), Governor of Jepara
e Merchants in Jepara (Mentioned in 1664)
=  Kyai Lurah Kartisjaya (Karta Jaya) (Mentioned in 1665), Governor of Jepara
e Syahbandar Raksabengala (Mentioned in 1665), Syahbandar of Jepara
=  Kyai Nabi Wiradikara (1666 -1669), Governor of Jepara
e Kyai Wangsa Ambasidana (Mentioned in 1668)
e Kyai Wangsakartisidana (Mentioned in 1668)
e Kyai Wangsaprana (Mentioned in 1667)
=  Kentol Sutananga (Sutantaka)(Mentioned in 1669), Governor of Jepara
e Kyai Wiratmaka (Mentioned between 1670-1674), Syahbandar of Jepara
e Syahbandar Marmagati (Mentioned in 1677), Syahbandar Jepara
=  Encik Salim (Mentioned in 1697), Capain of the Malay
=  Tumenggung Martapura (Mentioned in 1700 — 1704)
= Tejanapura (Mentioned in 1707), Governor of Jepara
= Kyai Adipati Tumenggung Citrasuma | (Mentioned in 1707 — 1732)
=  Mas Tumenggung Citrasuma (Mentioned in 1809), first regent
=  Tumenggung Suradiningrat (Mentioned in 1809), second regent
Jipang:
=  Kapitan Sutawangsa (Mentioned in 1715)
e Lords of Jipang (Mentioned in 1719)
Kalitanjung:

=  AryalIntrapaya (Mentioned in 1708)

Kaliwungu:



=  Kyai Ranga Adi Bengale (Mentioned between 1669-1670), Regent of Kaliwungu
=  Kyai Ranga Dia Mangala (Mentioned between 1663-1674)
=  Mas Tumenggung Adinegara (Mentioned in 1809)

Karangasem:

=  Gusti Kadek [Made] Karang (Mentioned in and around 1740)
=  Anglurah Made Karangasem | (1757 — May 1775)
=  Anglurah Made Karangasem Il (1775 — ca. 1800)
e Gusti Gede Ngurah Karangasem (Jul. 1775 — 1806), co-ruler, brother of
Anglurah Made Karangasem i, also ruler of Selaparang (see below)
e Gusti Wajahan (Mentioned in 1790)
=  Gusti Gede Ngurah Agung Lanang Paguyangan (Gusti Gede Ngurah Lanang) (1806 — ca.
1828)
e Gusti Bagus Jalantik (Mentioned in 1810)
e Gusti Wayahan Jalantik (Mentioned in 1810)

Karawang:

= Ngabehi Tanda (Mentioned in 1659), regent of Karawang
e Kyai Ngabehi Wirasaba (Mentioned between 1659-1677), regent of Bringintusu
e Wirasuta (Mentioned between 1659-1678), villagehead
=  Kyai LurahdiTapraya (Mentioned in 1661), regent of Tapraya
=  Kyai Singa Probangsa (Singa Perbangsa)(Mentioned between 1659-1677), regent of
Indapela and Gudu-Gudu
=  Kyai Tambabaya (Kyai Tombakbahaya) (Mentioned between 1678-1679)
= Singaderpa (Mentioned between 1678-1679), head of Patimoang
=  Wangsanaya (Mentiond between 1678-1680), Regent of Senayan
=  Kapitan Karawang (Mentioned in 1679)
=  Kyai Depati Gulongong (Mentioned in 1680), head of Gudu-gudu
=  Roaming forces in Karawang (Mentioned in 1681)
e Depati Galongong (Mentioned in 1680)
=  Lords of Galuh (Mentioned in 1680)
= Ngabehi Wartayuda (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
¢ Tumenggung Mangangyuda (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
e Sugaraprana (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
e Ngabehi Derpayuda (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
e KyaiJaya (Ngabehi Jaya Sedana) (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
e Sakrasuda (Mentioned in 1681), Balinese warlord
=  Arya Natamanggala (Mentioned in 1677)
e Tumenggung Nattayuda (mentioned between 1679-1682)
e Lords of Makassar (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Arya Purbanata (Mentioned in 1687 — 1698)
e Arya Mangala (Mentioned in 1714)
e Raden Arya Wirabaya (Mentioned between 1680-1715), Ombol Wirabaya
e Ragamarta (Mentioned in 1715), “Commissionary of the natives”
e Kapitan Anganata (Mentioned in 1715)
e Kapitan Sutajaja (Mentioned in 1715)
=  Adipati Panatayuda Il (Raden Jayanegara) (1721 - 1731)
= Raden Singasari (1786 — 1809)
e Lords of Karawang (Mentioned in 1694 — 1715)



Kartasura (Mataram)/Surakarta:

In 1755, the ‘Treaty of Giyanti’ was signed to solute the Third Javanese War of Succession, and split up the
Mataram empire into two different sultanates. Hence, the Susuhunan of Mataram became Susuhunan of
Surakarta. Pakubuwono Il had already moved the keraton from Kartasura to Solo in 1745, which became
the capital of the newly formed state.

= Susuhunan Amangkurat Il (Raden Mas Rahmat, Pangeran Adipati Anom, Sunan Amral)
(1677 — 1703)

Ratu Amangkurat (Mentioned in 1681), Wife of Amangkurat I/

Adipati Urawan (Sumendi) (Mentioned in 1680), Lurah of Amangkurat I
Raden Martakasuma (Mentioned in 1680)

Raden Ngabehi Anirangkusuma (Mentioned in 1680)

Raden PariadiWangsa (Mentioned in 1680)

Tumenggung Manganonang (Mentioned in 1680)

Raden Amirang Kusuma (Mentioned in 1685)

Tumenggung Surawikrama (Mentioned in 1687)

Raden Arya Linduraja (Mentioned in 1700), wazir

Pangeran Depati (Mentioned in 1691 — 1692), son of

Pangeran Adipati Anum Raja (Mentioned in 1692), may be the same person as
above

Singadripa (Mentioned in 1682)

Encik Jepara (Mentioned in 1677), Delegate of Susuhunan Amangkurat Il
Encik Sampsu (Mentioned in 1677), Delegate of Susuhunan Amangkurat Il
Encik Sulong (Mentioned in 1677), Delegate of Susuhunan Amangkurat I/
Mas Suradita (Mentioned in 1680)

Lords of Mataram (Mentioned in 1680)

= Susuhunan Amangkurat Il (Raden Mas Sutikna, Pangeran Adipati Anum of Mataram,
Sunan Mas, Pangeran Kencet, Sri Susuhunan Amangkurat Mas) (1703 — 1705)

Raden Arya Sinduraja (Mentioned in 1696 — 1700), rijksbestierder

= Susuhunan Pakubuwono | (Pangeran Puger, Raden Mas Drajat, Susuhunan Paku Buwana
Senapati Ingalaga Ngabdurahman Sayidin Panatagama Khalifatulah Tanah Jawa, Mas
Puger, Susuhunan Ingalaga) (1704 — 1719)

Radin Arya Sujanapura (Mentioned in 1707)

Kyai Adipati Surya Adiningrat (Mentioned in 1705 — 1714)
Pangeran Arya Mangkunegara (1707 — 1738), progenitor of the
Mangkunegaran princedom in Surkakarta from 1757

Pangeran Adipati Blitar (Mentioned in 1707)

Raden Tumenggung Kertanegara (Banyakpatra) (Mentioned in 1707 — 1710),
Bupati of Madiun (1704 — 1709)

Tumenggung Cakrajaya (Mentioned in 1707 — 1711)
Tumenggung Cakranegara (Mentioned in 1711 — 1724)
Tumenggung Mataram (Mentioned in 1713)

Citrawangsa (Mentioned in 1709), Javanese army-captain
Martakara (Mentioned in 1709), Javanese lieutenant

= Susuhunan Amangkurat IV (22 Feb. 1719 — 20 Apr. 1726)

Adipati Danuraja (Mentioned in 1754), wazir
Raden Dipati Natakusuma (Mentioned in 1743), rijksbestierder

= Susuhunan Pakubuwono IV (1788 — 1820)

Mangkunegara Il (r. 1796 — 1835), ruler of Mangkunegaran



Kendal:

* Javanese Lords (Mentioned in 1729)

Raden Tumenggung Prawirodiningrat (Mentioned in 1809)

Krawis (unknown):

Kudus:

Lamongan:

Lasem:

Limbangan:

Lengkong:

Surya Laga (Mentioned in 1812)

Raden Tummengung Panji Padmanegara (Mentioned in 1808)

Kyai Panji Surengrana (Arya Wiranegara) (before 1711 — 1717), brother of Ngabehi
Jangrana Ill and Arya Jaypuspita of Surabaya; exiled to Colombo in 1723

(Raden Mas) Martajaya (Mentioned in 1667), Regent of Lasem
Mas Tumenggung Yudanegara (Mentioned in 1809)

Ngabehi Wangsadita (Mentioned in 1710 — 1730)
Demang Martasinga (1678 —1728)
(Raden) Rangga Limbangan (Mentioned in 1741)

Raden Arya Wangsa Diraja (mentioned in 1682)

Bangkalan (Madura):

Juwana:

Kota Gede:

Panembahan Cakraningrat Il (Raden Undakan), (1648 [?] — 1707)
(Raden) Trunajaya (Panembahan/Raja Maduretna) (Mentioned between 1676-1679),
Crown contender of Madura and Mataram, cousin of Panembahan Cakraningrat I/
Pangeran Cakraningrat lll (1707 — 1718)

e Tumenggung Surayadinata (Mentioned in 1713)

e Dipati Suryadiningrat (Mentioned in 1719)

e Angajiwa (Mentioned in 1741)
Pangeran Cakraningrat IV (1718 — 1746)
Pangeran Cakradiningrat VIl (1780 — 1815)

Tumenggung Pati Juwana (Mentioned in 1657)



=  Tumenggung Bahureksa (Mentioned in 1628), Regent of Kendal and Commander of the
first siege of Batavia

Mataram: (see: Kartasura, Kota Gede and Plered)

Mengwi:
=  Gusti Agung Made Alang- kajeng (1722 — c. 1740)
=  Gusti Ngurah Made Agung | (1807 — 1823)
Pajangkungan:
= Syahbandar Pejangkungan (Mentioned in 1671)
Panembong:
=  Judamangala (mentioned in 1682)
Pasuruan:
= Raden Adipati Nilidiningrat (Mentioned in 1809)
Pekalongan:
=  (Kyai) Raden Nabi (Ngabehi) Singawangsa (Mentioned between 1659-1670), Governor of
Pekalongan
e Kyai Dorpentaka (Mentioned between 1666-1668)
=  Lurah Wirasarawa (Mentioned in 1680), Regent of Wirasarawa
=  Mas Ngabehi Kartasura (Mentioned 1696)
=  Tumenggung Adipati Jajadiningrat (Mentioned in 1706 — 1732)
Pamekasan:
= Raden Arya Adikara (1665 — 1708)
e Lords of Pamekasan (Mentioned in 1707 — 1708)
e Raden Sasena (Mentioned in 1708)
e Raden Ayu (Mentioned in 1715 — 1717), mother of Raden Arya Adikara
= Raden Adikara Il (1708 — 1737)
=  Raden Adikara Ill (1737 — 1743)
Pemalang:
=  Kyai Sindupraya (Adipati Sindupraya) (Mentioned between 1665-1674)
= Raden Tumenggung Arya Rexadiningrat (Mentioned in 1809)
Pamanukan:

=  Ngabehi Wangsatanu (Ngabehi Wangsatanun, Kyai Nebi Wangsatanu) Regent of
Pagaden and Pamanukan (Mentioned between 1663 — 1728)
e  Chiliwidara (Mentioned in 1679), bandit
=  Kyai Ngabehi Angasuta (Ci Pamanukan) (Mentioned in 1679), Regent of Pamanukan
=  Ngabehi Wangsatanu (Mentioned in 1687 — 1728)
= Ngabehi Nangatanu (Mentioned in 1697)



=  Ki Mas Angsasuta (Mentioned in 1709)

Panaruban:

=  Ombol Kentol Patra (Mentioned in 1697)

Parakan Muncang:

=  Tumenggung Tanubaya (Mentioned in 1689 — 1741)
=  Ngabehi Concuko (Mentioned in 1689 — 1698)

Pasisir (exact location unknown):
=  Pangeran Mas of Puranegara (Mentioned between 1672-1679), Lord of Puranegara
=  (Ngabehi) Wangsadipa (Mentioned between 1676-1682), Regent over the Pasisir
= Raden Singaraja (Mentioned in 1677), Delegate of Susuhunan Amangkurat Il
=  Kyai Ngabehi Wiragati (Mentioned in 1677), Delegate of Susuhunan Amangkurat Il
=  Panembahan Suraningrat (Mentioned in 1682)
= Chinese merchants (Mentioned in 1688)

Pati:

= Kyai Tumenggung Pati (Mentioned in 1659), Regent of Pati
= Raden Tumenggung Arya Magetsari (Mentioned in 1808)

Pemalang:

Raden Ayu Wedana (Mentioned in 1808), wife of Tummengunng Aryo
Magetsari
Raden Suryo Kusuma (Mentioned in 1808), son of Tummengunng Aryo
Magetsari

= Raden Arya Cokronegoro (Mentioned in 1714 — 1723)

Plered (Mataram):

= Susuhunan Amangkurat | (1646-1677)

Priangan:

Tumenggung Wiraguna (1644-1648), Tumenggung Mataram

Kanjeng Ratu Batang (Ratu Ayu Wetan) (Mentioned in 1648), Mother of
Susuhunan Amangkurat |

Kyai Ngabehi Wirapatra (Mentioned in 1648)

Tumenggung Natairnawa (Kyai Suta, Tumenggung Pati) (Mentioned between
1653-1657)

Pangeran Singasari (Pangeran Damawang, Raden Arya Tiron) (Mentioned
between 1670-1676), Third son of Susuhunan Amangkurat | and Youngest
brother of Susuhunan Amangkurat Il

Pangeran Ginter (Mentioned in 1671)

Kyai Wirakarti (Mentioned in 1672)

Pangeran (Raden Arya) Panular (Mentioned between 1673-1675), Son of
Susuhunan Amangkurat |

Surawangsa (Mentioned between 1675-1676)

=  AryaSurawinata (Mentioned in 1695)



=  Dalem Jagabaya (Mentioned in 1739)
=  Kyai Mas Pancar (Mentioned in 1706)
e Lords of Priangan (Mentioned in 1695 — 1740)
Probolinggo:
= Raden Tumenggung Joyodiningrat (1808 — 1810)’

Pulau Onrust:

= Six Ambonese (Mentioned in 1771)

Rembang:
=  Mas Tumenggung Mangudipuro (Mentioned in 1809)
Sawalor:
=  Nimas Mir (Mentioned in 1682)
Semarang:
=  Kyai Anggapraja (Mentioned in 1648)
=  Kyai Suta (Mentioned in 1648)
=  Kyai Ngabehi Wangsaraja (Mentioned between 1657-1659), Governor of Semarang
=  Kyai Nitisastra (Mentioned between 1671-1672), Trade minister of Susuhunan
Amangkurat |
=  Kyai Nayacitra (Mentioned in 1673), Governor of Semarang
=  Chinese in Semarang (Mentioned in 1680)
e Uy Zu-Qua (Mentioned in 1680), Captain of the Chinese in Semarang
=  Adipati Sura Adimangala | (1682 — 1721)
e Sons of Adipati Sura Adimangala | ( (Mentioned in 1744)
e Raden Ngabehi Martayuda (Mentioned in 1721 — 1723)
=  Ngabehi Suramanggala (Mentioned in 1709 — 1711)
=  Ki Ranga Yudawangsa (Mentioned in 1697 — 1700)
=  Adipati Astrawijaja (Mentioned in 1724 — 1732)
=  Raden Tumenggung Trianegana (Mentioned in 1725 — 1741
=  Adipati Sura Dimangala (Mentioned in 1797 — 1799))
=  Adipati Sejanapura (Mentioned in 1707)
e Said Ali Ibn Achmad Balow Sakhaf (Mentioned in 1797)
e Saragan Muhammad Shah (Mentioned in 1798)
= Raden Tumenggung Panji Natadiningrat (Mentioned in 1809)
Seruni:
=  Kyai Bagus Parantaka (Mentioned in 1682)
Sibalagon:

=  Arya Natamangala (Mentioned in 1687 — 1697)

7 See: http://www.probolinggokab.go.id/index.php?option=com content&view=article&id=935&Itemid=293 [3-26-2015]




Sukapura:

Sukawati:

Sukawati:

Sumedang:

Sumenep:

Surabaya:

Raden Anggadipa | (1674 — 1723)
Raden Subamanggala (1723 — 1745)

Ida Dewa Anum (Mentioned in 1717)

Dewa Agung Gede Sukawati (1757 — ?)

Pangeran Kusumahdinata VI (Pangeran Panembahan/Pangeran Rangga Gempol Ill)
(1656 — 1706)
e Raden Nangamaja (Raden Bagus, Radem Angapraya)(Mentioned in 1678),
Brother of Pangeran Kusumahdinata VI
e Raden Singamangala (Mentioned in 1678), Brother of Pangeran Kusumahdinata
Vi
e Raden Tanusuta (Mentioned in 1678), Brother of Pangeran Kusumahdinata VI
e Kingabe Martayuda (Raden Ngabehi Martayuda di Ciawi) (Mentioned in 1678),
military commander
e Kyai Mas Arya Bandayuda (Mentioned in 1678), military commander
e Martawangsa (Mentioned in 1678), delegate
(Bupati Dalem) Tumenggung Tanumaja (1706 — 1737)
Adipati Kusumadinata (Depati Rangga Gempol) (1737[?] —1748)
Tumenggung Suranegara (Mentioned in 1798)

(Kanjeng) Pangeran Arya Yudanegara (1671 — 1684)
(Kanjeng) Raden Tumenggung Pulangjiwa (Kanjeng Pangeran Seppo) (1684 — 1702)
0 Ngabehi Brajapati (Ngabhi Prajapati Pandi Wixangaraxa[?]) (Mentioned in 1685
—1701), provisional regent
0 Son of Ngabehi Brajapati (Mentioned in 1701)
0 Ngabehi Lingajaja Joxo (Mentioned in 1685), provisional regent
0 Mas Sewanegara (1711 —1721), patih
(Kanjeng) Pangeran Arya Cakranegara | (Pangeran Rama) (1702 — 1705)
Raden Suderma (1705 — 1707)
(Kanjeng) Pangeran Arya Cakranegara Il (1707 — 1737)
Arya Cakranegara lll (Pangeran Jimat) (1737 — 1750)
0 Raden Arya Dipaningrat (Mentioned in 1721)
0 Raden Arya Suradiningrat (Mentioned in 1721)
0 Syahbandar Tan Su Ko (Mentioned in 1714)
Pangeran Natakusuma | (PangeranTirta Negara ll/Panembahan Sumolo Asiru) ( (1762 —
1811)
0 Lords of Sumenep (Mentioned in 1695 — 1739)



e Pangeran Pekik (Mentioned in 1648), Head of the Ampel Ulama
=  Kyai Adipati Jayengrana | (Jangrana I, Anggawangsa) (1677 — 1693)
e Ki Demang Wangsanegara (Mentioned in 1701)
=  Kyai Adipati Jayengrana Il (Jangrana Il, Panembahan Panatagama) (1693 — 1709), wazir
e Raden Tumenggung Sastranegara (Mentioned in 1707)
e Suryanegara (Mentioned in 1707), son of Raden Tumenggung Sastranegara
e Dipati Surabaya (Mentioned in 1708)
e Captain of Surabaya (Mentioned in 1699)
Surabaya split up in 1709 into two Kratons: ‘Kasepuhan’ and ‘Kanoman’
0 Kasepuhan:
= Aryalayapuspita (Mentioned in 1709 — 1717)
e The mother of Arya Jayapuspita (Mentioned in 1709)
0 Kanoman:
= NgabehilJangrana lll (1705 — 1718), brother of Arya Jauapuspita
e Pangeran Puspaningrat (Mentioned in 1711)
=  Tumenggung Surawijaya (Mentioned in 1709)
= Ngabehi Yudanegara (Mentioned in 1713)
= Ngabehi Pulandara (Mentioned in 1713)
=  Tumenggung Suramarta (Mentioned in 1741)

Tangerang:
=  Kyai Gulu (Mentioned in 1668)
=  Raden Sinepati (Senopati) (Mentioned between 1668-1678)
=  Kyai Arya Suradimarta (Martasura, Kyai Ranganaradimarta) (Mentioned between 1678 -
1682) Chief commander of the Bantense troops at Indramayu
e Adipati SuradiMangala (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Kyai Arya Sutadilaga | (1682-1739)
e Pangeran Aryanawanga (Mentioned in 1682)
e Dipati WangsadiLaga (Mentioned in 1682), Uncle of Pangeran Purbaya
e Deserted VOC soldiers (mentioned in 1682)
e Kyai Arya Wisata (Mentioned in 1682)
e Subaraja (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Kyai Arya Bayadimarta (Mentioned in 1707)
Tegal:
=  Tumenggung Sarapada (Satapada) (Mentioned between 1636-1641)
=  Kyai Ngabehi Tiyuda (Mentioned in 1664)
= Captain Ismael (Mentioned in 1741)
=  Lords of Tegal (Mentioned in 1741)
= Raden Haji Kahitusakra (Mentioned in 1808)
= Raden Tumenggung Rexanegara (Mentioned in 1809)
e Governor of Tegal
Tobungku:

=  Raja Tobungku (Mentioned in 1692), unknown

Tuban:



Utama:

Wanayasa:

Mas Tumenggung Purwanegara (Mentioned in 1809)

Sutapatra (Mentioned in 1702), unknown

Raden Demang Suradikara (Mentioned in 1684 — 1709)

Watu Jaya (Uncertain, probably in or near Brebes):

Yogyakarta:

Moluccas:

Ambon:

Ambon (exiles):

Yuda Mangala (Mentioned in 1698)

Sultan Hamengkubuwono | (1755 — 1792)
Sultan Hamengkubuwono I (1792 — 1812)

Kimelaha Madjira (Mentioned in 1637)

Orang Kayas Ambon (Mentioned in 1653)

Rajas of Ambon (Mentioned in 1766 — 1768)

Tan de Amijo (Mentioned in 1768), unknown

Orang Kaya Kaunela of Tanunu Kaybolu (Mentioned in 1769)
Orang Kaya Latuher of Kulu (Mentioned in 1769)
Anthony de Soyda (Mentioned in 1769)

Jacobus de Roy (Mentioned in 1769)

Eduart de Silva (Mentioned in 1769)

Kaicili Maliqudin (Mentioned in 1790)

Orang Kaya's of Ambon

Lords of Ambon (Mentioned in 1769 — 1776)

Orang Kaya Raja Mudah Nusanuwe (Mentioned in 1787)
Kaicili Maliqudin (Mentioned in 1790)

Sultan Muhammad Muhyiddin, exiled in 1803
e RatuJamilah (Mentioned in 1809), wife of Sultan Muhammad Muhyiddin
Sultan Muhammad Muhyiddin (Mentioned in 1806), Sultan of Banten (see above), exiled
in 1803
Pangeran Adipati Mangkurat Mas (Mentioned in 1808)
Mas Ayu Ketut, widow of Tummengung Sutanegara (Mentioned in 1808)
Raden Tummengung Wirakusuma (Mentioned in 1808)
Mas Ngabehi Martapraja (Mentioned in 1808)
Raden Martakusuma (Mentioned in 1808)
Raden Surakusuma (Mentioned in 1808)
Raden Bratakusuma (Mentioned in 1808)



=  Pangeran Sajapaninga (Mentioned in 1808)

Asilulu:
=  Pati Tomali (Mentioned in 1775)
Banda Neira:

=  Ruloss Fiser Calipara (Mentioned in 1768)
=  Philippus Johannes Backer (Mentioned in 1768)
=  Frederik Zacharias Backer (Mentioned in 1768)

Banda Neira (exiles):

= Raden Suderma, exiled[?], send from Madura to Banda 1690, returned between 1694
and 17038

=  Pangeran Manduranegara (Mentioned in 1762), exiled from Banten

=  Pangeran Ratu Syarif Abdulah (Mentioned in 1763), exile

=  Pangeran Syarif Jafar (Mentioned in 1763), exile

Bacan:
= Sultan Alauddin Il (Paduka Sri Maha Tuan Sultan Muhammad 'Ala ud-din Il ibni al-
Marhum Sultan Muhammad 'Ali) (1660 — 19 Jul. 1701)
e Muson Gogugu (Mentioned in 1682)
e Buloto Kapitan Laut (Mentioned in 1682), Lord of maritime affairs
e Lawataha Hukum (Mentioned in 1682), Lord of justice
¢ Rocodin Kimelaha (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Sultan Musa Malikuddin (1701 — 2 Jan. 1715)
e Kaicili Musum[?] (Mentioned in 1702)
= Sultan Kie Nasiruddin (1715 — 17 Feb. 1732)
=  Sultan Hamza Tarafan Nur (1732 — 1741)
=  Sultan Muhammad Sahadin (1741 - 1780)
= Sultan Iskander Alam (Paduka Iskandar Alam) (1780 — 1788)
e Cucaynda Ahmad (Mentioned in 1787), regent of Bacan
= Sultan Muhammad Badaruddin (1788 — 1797)
* Lords of Bacan (Mentioned in 1699 — 1797)
Saparua:
=  Lords of Saparua (Mentioned in 1764)
= OrangKaya's of Saparua (Mentioned in 1772)
Hitu:
=  QOrang Kaya Bulang (Mentioned in 1636),
Hunimua:

= Lords of Hunimua (Mentioned in 1764)

8 See: Daghregisters, 24 January 1690 and 20 October 1694.



Luhu:

Manipa:

Nusa Laut:

Seram:

Taliabu:

Ternate:®

Abdul Rahaman (Mentioned in 1636)

Sangaji Kawasa (Mentioned in 1674), Father of Kapitan Jonker
Orang Kaya's of Manipa (Mentioned in 1772)

Lords of Nusa Laut (Mentioned in 1764)

'Lokman' of Ceram (Mentioned in in 1686)

Captain Hamba Allah (Mentioned in 1764 — 1774) , lit.: “slave of Allah”, probably a
pseudonym to cover the true identity

Raja Seram (Mention in 1770)

Sangajis of Taliabu (Mentioned in 1682)

Sultan Hamzah (1627-1648)
* Don Pedro de Mendiola (Mentioned in 1637), Governor of Gamalama
e Patre Miguel de St. Francisco (Mentioned in 1637),
Sultan Mandar Shah (1655-1675)
e Daeng Pabila (Mentioned in 1665)
Kaicili Sibori Sultan Amsterdam (Paduka Sri Sultan Sibori ibni al-Marhum Sultan Mandar
Shah ibni al-Marhum Sultan Mandar Shah) (January 1675 — 27 Apr. 1689)
e Zilebe (Celebe) (Mentioned in 1676), Delegate of Sultan Amsterdam
e Orang Kayas of Ternate (mentioned in 1682)
e Kyai Chili Pankula (mentioned between 1676-1682), son of Kyai Chili Kalamata
e Children of Kaicil Kalamata (mentioned in 1676)
e Kaicili Reti (1662 — ca. 1692), kapitan laut
e Boki Mahir Gammalamo (1685 — 1696), Jogugu, sister of Sultan Amsterdam
e Kimalaha Hasi (Mentioned in 1686)
= Widows of Kaicili Sibori Sultan Amsterdam
=  Wife of Mayuda (mentioned in 1682)
= Carolus Tercottus (Mentioned in 1680), Italian Jesuit
=  Emanuel Espagnola (Mentioned in 1680), Spanish Jesuit
= Jerénimo de Cebreros (Mentioned in 1680), Spanish Jesuit
Sultan Said Fathu'llah (Sultan Siad Kaicili Toloko/Tolukki) (27 Apr. 1689 — 12 Aug. 1714),
succeeded on the death of his elder brother, Kaicili Amstedam
e Mariam of Markian (Mentioned in 1715), wife (widow) of Sultan Said Fathu'llah

9 See: L.Y. Andaya, The world of Maluku: Eastern Indonesia in the early modern period (Honolulu 1993); Ch.F. van Fraassen, Ternate, de
Molukken en de Indonesische archipel: van soa-organisatie en vierdeling: een studie van traditionele samenleving en cultuur in Indonesié

(Leiden: KITLV Press 1987).



e Children of Mariam of Markian (Mentioned in 1715)
e Kaicili Pankula (Mentioned in 1689), grandson of Sultan Mudafar of Ternate
(1606 — 1627)
¢ Hukum Marsaoli Bobaca (Mentioned in 1690)
e Kimalaha Marsaoli Tomagola (Mentioned in 1690)
e Kaicili Baressi (Mentioned in 1690 — 1691), son of Sultan Hamza of Ternate
(1627 - 1648)
e Tuari of Falahu (Mentioned 1690 — 1694), wife (later widow) of Sultan
Amsterdam
e Kaicili Hukum (Mentioned in 1692), son of a Gorontolese slave
e Gogugu Marsaoli Pancala Suara (Mentioned in 1698 — 1714)
=  Sultan Amir Iskandar Zulkarnain Saifuddin (1714 — 1751), first son of Sultan Said
Fathu'llah by his fourth wife, Sayira
e Sultan Ayan Shah (1751 — 1754), eldest son of Amir Iskandar Zulkarnain Saifuddin
¢ Salomon Manoppo (Mentioned in 1754 — 1789)
=  Syah Mardan (1755 — 1764), second son of Amir Iskandar Zulkarnain Saifuddin
=  Jalaluddin Shah (1765 — 1774), third son of Shah Mardan
= Arun Shah (16 Aug. 1774 — 1781), sixth son of Jalaluddin Shah
=  Sultan Akharal (3 Dec.r 1781 — 27 Apr. 1796), deposed and exiled to Batavia
= Sultan Sarkan (1796 — 1801), first son of Arun Shah
= Sultan Muhammad Yasin (1801 — 1807), second son of Arun Shah
=  Muhammad Ali (1807 — 1821), third son of Arun Shah
e Lords of Ternate (Mentioned in 1687 — 1807)

Tidore:
= Sultan Saifuddin (Saifudin Golafino, Paduka Siri Sultan Saifuddin) (1657 — 1689)
e Daeng Nija Karaeng Panaikang (Mentioned in 1676), Wife of H.H. Sultan Mas
Pamayang, Younger daughter of H.H. I-Manginyarang Daeng Makiya Karaeng
Kanjilo 'Abdu'l Jafar Muzaffar and Wife of Kaicil Kalamata
e Kyai Chili Kalamata (Mentioned between 1671-1675)
= Sultan Hamzah Fahruddin (1688 — 1705)
= Sultan Abdul Fadhlil Mansur (1705 — 1708)
= Sultan Hasanuddin Kaicili Garcia (1708 — 1728)
= Sultan Amir Bifodlil Aziz Muhidin Malikul Manan (1728 — 1757)
*  Kaicili van Imhoff (Mentioned in 1751 — 1778)
e Kaicili Darmawan (Mentioned in 1754)
= Sultan Muhammad Mashud Jamaluddin (1757 —1779)
»  Kaicili Gaijira (Mentioned 1774 — 1780), son of Sultan Jamaluddin®®
=  Sultan Patra Alam (1780 — 1783), grandson of Jamaluddin, son of Gaijira, exiled to
Colombo.
= Sultan Hairul Alam Kamaluddin Asgar (1784 — 1797)
= Sultan Nuku Muhammad Amiruddin (1797 — 1805)
e Lords of Tidore (Mentioned in 1689 — 1801)
Bone:!!

10 Muridan S. Widjojo, The revolt of prince Nuku: Cross cultural alliance-making in Maluku, c. 1780-1810 (Leiden/Boston: Brill 2009): 54.



=  Arung Palakka (1672 — 6 Apr. 1696)
e Sira Daeng Talele Karaeng Ballajawa (16 Mar.[?] 1665/68 — 22 Aug. 1710[?]),
second wife of Arung Palakka, widow of Karaeng Bissei
e Bakacir Waka Teba Encik Chatib (Mentioned in 1681), reputed son of Arung
Palakka
e Kapitan Tohuda (mentioned in 1682), Commander of the Angke Bugis
e Lords of the Angke Bugis (mentioned in 1682)
e Daeng Mabela (mentioned in 1682), Commander of the Angke Bugis
e Arung Kayo (Mentioned in 1674)
e Arung Maruangen (Mentioned between 1665-1674)
e Arung Tanete (Mentioned in 1674)
e Daeng Mangika (Mentioned between 1679-1680)
¢ Daeng Mengimba (Mentioned between 1679-1680)
e Kapitan Daeng Matara (Mentioned between 1679-1682), Commander of VOC
troops
e Daeng Sitolju (Sitolu) (Mentioned between 1678-1680), Commander of VOC
troops
e Kapitan Daeng Tuju(h) (Mentioned in 1680), Commander of VOC troops
=  La Patau (Paduka Sri Sultan Idris Azim ud-din [Matinroe-ri Nagawuleng/Matinroa ri
Nagaulang Idris]) (6 Apr 1696 — 16 Sep. 1714)
=  Batari Toja Daeng Talaga Aru Timurung Datu ri Chitta (Sultana Zainab Zakiyat; Matinroe-
ri Tipuluna) (16 Sep. 1714 — 5 Aug. 1715)
= LaPadang Sajati (1715 — 1720), also ruler of Soppeng
= La Parappa (To' Aparapu Sappewali Daeng Bonto Madanrang Karaeng Anamonjang
Paduka Sri Sultan Shahab ud-din Ismail ibni al-Marhum Sultan Idris Azim ud-din
[Tumamenanga-ri Sompaopu]) (16 Dec. 1721 — 8 Jan. 1724), also ruler of Soppeng and
Gowa
*  Aru Petus of Bone[ (Mentioned in 1720)
=  Batari Toja Daeng Talaga Aru Timurung Datu ri Chitta (2" term: 1724 — 1738), also of
Soppeng
e Envoys of Bone (Mentioned in 1729)
= |-Danraja Siti Nafisah Karaeng Langelo binti al-Marhum (10 May 1738 — 30 Dec. 1741)
e Jayal Udir Raja (Mentioned in 1739)
=  Batari Toja Daeng Talaga Aru Timurung Datu ri Chitta (3rd term: 31 Dec. 1741 — 2 Nov.
1749)
=  La Mapasossong Jaliluddin Abdul Rajab (Sultan Abdul Razzaq) (2 Nov. 1749 — 17 Jun.
1775), also ruler of Soppeng
= LaTenrituppu Ahmad Dursale Syamsuddin (La Tenri Tappu To’ Appaliweng Arung
Timurung Paduka Sri Sultan Ahmad as-Saleh Shams ud-din [Matinroé-ri-Rompégading])
(1775 - 1812)
e Arung Tebayong (Mentioned in 1788 — 1810)
e Arung Buah (Mentioned in 1806 — 1810)

Buton:

=  Sultan Mardan Ali (Oputa Igogoli Yi Liwuto and La Cila) (1647-1654)
=  Sultan La Awu (1654-1664)

= Sultan Adilil Rakhiya (La Simbata) (1664-1669)

=  Sultan Kaimuddin (La Tangkaraja and Paduka Siri) (1669-1680)

11 W.P. Cummings, The Makassar Annals (Leiden: KITLV Press 2010).



Gorontalo:

e Jogugu Buton (Mentioned in 1676)
La Tumpamana Sultan Zainuddin (1680 — 1689)
e Siri Maharaja Sapati (Mentioned in 1680)
La Umati Sultan Liauddin Ismail (1689 — 1697)
La Dini Sultan Syaifuddin (1695 — 1702) second time
e The wazir of Bouton
La Sadaha Sultan Syamsuddin (1702 — 1709 )
La Ubi Sultan Nasiruddin (1709 — 1711)
Sultan Mulhiruddin Abdul Rasyid (1711 - 1712)
Sultan Sakiuddin Longkariri (1712 — 1750)
Sultan La Karambau (1750 — 1752)
Sultan Hamim (1752 — 1759)
Sultan La Seha (1759 — 1760), No letters
Sultan La Karambau (1760 — 1763)
Sultan La Jampi (1763 — 1788)
Sultan La Masalalamu (1788 — 1791)
Sultan La Kopuru (1791 — 1799)
Sultan La Badaru (1799 — 1822)
e Lords of Buton (Mentioned in 1669 — 1803)

The kingdom of Gorontalo was also, more properly, known as Holontalo. There was from early on a
division of royal powers between a upper (To Tilayo) and a lower (To Huliyalio) royal line, known also as
Negeri raja and Kompeni raja, respectively.

Polamolo Il Tomito (1674- 1681), exiled to Colombo
e Gogugu of Gorontale (mentioned in 1682), exiled to Colombo
e Kapitan Laut (mentioned in 1682), exiled to Colombo
Raja Lepehulawa (Tinito) (1686 — 1730)
Raja Nuwa (1730 — 1764)
Raja Iskandar Monoarfa (1757 — 1777)
Walangaji Il (1768 — 1790)
Raja Muhammad llassan Udin Iskandar Isani Unaskulah (Mentioned in 1779 — 1781)
Raja Unongo (1780 — 1782)
Pongoliwu Mbuinga Daa (1782 — 1795)
¢ Paduka Muhammad Maz-Udin (Mentioned in 1788)
Mbuinga Kiki Monoarfa (1795 — 1818)
* Lords of Gorontalo (Mentioned in 1760 — 1795)

Gowa and Talloq (Makassar):*?

Sultan Malikussaid (I Mannuntungi Daeng Mattola Karaeng Lakiyung Sultan Malikussaid
Tuminanga ri Papang Batuna) (1639-1653)
Sultan Hasanuddin (I Mallombasi Muhammad Bakir Daeng Mattawang Karaeng Bonto
Mangepe or Sultan Hasanuddin Tumenanga Ri Balla Pangkana) (1653-1669)
e Sultan Haraunarrasyid Tumenanga ri Lampana (Mentioned between 1668-
1669), Karaeng of Tallog and Brother of Daeng Mangappa

12 W.P. Cummings, The Makassar Annals.



Karaeng Pattingalloang (I Mangadacinna Daeng Sitaba Sultan Mahmudn
Karaeng Pattingalloang)(Mentioned between 1648-1653), Makassarese viceroy
and astronomer

Muhammed Shaffi (Mentioned between 1653-1656), Indian merchant
Karaeng Semanap (Mentioned between 1656-1657)

Karaeng Sumanna (Mentioned between 1657-1665),

Karaeng Karunrung (Mentioned between 1657-1665), Son of Sultan
Hasanuddin

Karaeng Bantaeng (Mentioned in 1657), Sabandar Makassar

Francisco Vieira de Figueiredo (Mentioned between 1661-1664), Portuguese
adventurer

Anténio Homem de Azevedo (mentioned in 1663)

Mapele (Mentioned in 1666), Arabic merchant

Karaeng Bontomarannu (Mentioned between 1674-1676 (death in 1676)),
Principal minister of Gowa, Father of | Daeng Mangappa, Chief commander of
Makassarese refugees, former Karaeng Galesong*?

0 () Daeng Mangappa (Mangalle/ | Adulug) (Mentioned between 1674-
1681), Brother of the ruler (Karaeng) of Tallo, Sultan Haraunarrasyid
Tumenanga ri Lampana and son of Karaeng Bontomarannu and
Commander of the troops on the fleet of Paulus Huntum

0 Karaeng Galesong (Mentioned between 1676-1679), Son of Sultan
Hasanuddin, escaped to Java

0 Daeng Malike (Daeng Malik) (Mentioned in 1678), escaped to Java,
Leader of the Balinese and other refugees in Cianjur

0 Abdul Kahar Daeng Mamu (mentioned between 1676 -1678),

Makassarese Commander, escaped to Java

Daeng Mario (Mentioned in 1679), Lord of Mario, escaped to Java
Daeng Mayambe (Mentioned in 1679), escaped to Java

Daeng Nesere (Daeng Nesara) (Mentioned in 1678), escaped to Java
Daeng Tulolo (Tellelo) (Mentioned between 1675-1678), escaped to
Java

0 Karaeng Manyewu (Mentioned in 1679), escaped to Java

0 Karaeng Rappocini (Mentioned in 1679), escaped to Java

O O O O

= Sultan Muhammad Ali (Karaeng Bisei, Mapa Usong) Tumenanga ri Jakattara (1674 —
1677), born as Karaeng Bisei Tumatea ri Jakattaraqg Muhammad Ali

Daeng Talele Karaeng Kampongberu, first wife of Sultan Muhammad Ali

= Sultan Abdul Jalil | Mappadulung (Daeng Mattimung Karaeng Sanrobone Sultan Abdul
Jalil [Tumenanga-ri-Lakiung]) (16 Sep. 1677 — 17 Sep. 1709)

Arung Teko (Mentioned in 1701), sent into exile in 1702

Daeng Nisayu (Mentioned in 1705), widow of Arung Teko

Karaeng ri Lengkeseq (Mammaliang Daeng Pole) (b 14 Oct. 1627 —d. 10 Apr.
1695; Mentioned 1690 — 1706), prince, son of the Viceroy of Gowa

Kapitan Daeng Matara (Mentioned in 1706)

Toja Derwits (Mentioned in 1682), courtier and merchant from overseas
Tumamenang ri Passiringanna Abdul Kadir (Mappajanji) (Mentioned in 1706 —
1707)

Encik Buang (Mentioned in 1680)

Encik Abdul (Mentioned in 1680)

Toja Galak (Mentioned in 1681)

13 These lords remained loyal to Sultan Hasanuddin and his lineage after he lost his power.



= Sultan Isma’il To Sape Walie Karaeng Anamoncong (Tumenanga-ri-Sompaopu/Matinroe
ri Somba Opu/Tumamenang ri Somba Opu) (18 Sep. 1709 — 30 Aug. 1712)
e Karaeng Bontosunggu Tumamenang ri Taenga (1675 — 1726)
=  Sultan Sirajuddin | Mappaurangi (Karaeng Kanjilo Paduka; Sri Sultan Sirajuddin
[Tuammenang-ri-Pasi]) (31 Aug. 1712 — 5 Nov. 1735)
e Inquisitor of Goa (Mentioned in 1720)
= Sultan Abdul Khair al-Mansur (I Malawangau Shah Tumenanga-ri-Makassar/Gowal) (5
Nov. 1735 — 17 Jul. 1742)
e Domingos Lasaya (mentioned in 1739), unknown
=  Karaeng Batara Gowa Il Amas Madina Mampu (Patti Mathari Sultan Usman Fakhruddin
[Tumenanga-ri-Silung]) (21 Dec. 1753 — 2 Aug. 1766)
=  Sultan Muhammad Imaduddin | Malisujawa (Daeng Riboko Arung_ Mampu/Aru
[Tumenanga-ri-Tompo'balang]) (14 Apr 1767 — 10 Jan. 1769)
=  Sultan Zainuddin | Makaraeng (Karaeng Tamasangang Karaeng Katangka [Tumenanga-ri-
Matawangang]) (15 Feb 1769 — 15 Sep. 1777)
=  Sultan Abdul Hadi (Karaeng Mangasa) (1781 — 1810)

Khalifah:
=  QOrang Kaya Swararaja (Suararaja) (Mentioned in 1648)
Limboto:'*

= |lato (Ju Panggola, To Tilajo llato) (1671-1681), exiled to Colombo
e Gogugu of Limboto (mentioned in 1682), exiled to Colombo
=  Bumulo (?-1742)
= Sultan Hulupango (Sultan Tajul Alam Masurdin) (1742 — 1770)
= Sultan Naki (Mentioned in 1773 — 1776)
e Apilgrim from Limboto (Mentioned in 1774)
e Lords of Limboto (Mentioned in 1761 — 1780)

Makassar: (see: Gowa and Talloq)

Mandar:

=  Raja Mandar (Mentioned in 1754)

=  Maharaja Dija Malu Laut (Mentioned in 1754)
Muna:

= Raja Tibore (Mentioned in 1674)
Parigi:

=  Badiuddin Shah (Mentioned in 1787 — 1789)

e Lords of Parigi (Mentioned in 1787 — 1789)

Selayar:

=  Raja Bontobangun (Mentioned in 1675)

14 Limboto was the main polity directly surrounding the Limboto lake.



Soppeng:
See also the rulers of Bone, as these were the same during ca. 1724 — 1775.

= We Adda (Datu ri Soppéng, We Adda Datu ri Watu) (1691 — 1705)
= LaPadangsajati (1714 — 1720)

*  Aru Panjili (1749 - 1758)

= La Mappajanci (1758 - 1782)

Tamparang:
=  Arung Bakke (Mentioned between 1674-1678), Raja Tamparang
Tanette:
=  We Tenrileleang [Matinroe-ri-Soreang] (1747 — 1776)
= Sultan Abdul Qadir Muhiddin [Matinroe-ri-Dusang] (1776 — 1807)
= Sultan Abdullah Saipu Aru Pancana La Patua (1807 — 1824)
e Daturincita (1807 — 1814), mother of Abdullah Saipu, regent
Wajo:
=  La Madanaca Arung Waetuo (1754 — 1755)
=  Vacant; Raja Wajo (1755 — 1758)
=  LaPassaung Puannala Omo' (1758 —1761)
=  Vacant (1761 -1764)
Sumatra:
Aceh:

= |skandar Muda (1607-1636)

= |skandar Tsani (1636-1641)

=  Sultanah Safiatuddin (Sri Ratu Safiatuddin Tajul Alam) (1641-1675)

=  Tengu Haji (Mentioned in 1808)

= Sultan Alaeddin VIl Jauharul Alam Syah bin Alaeddin Muhammad Syah (1795 — 1815)

Ayer Banggi (unknown):
=  Lords of Air Bangi (Mentioned in 1764)

Bandar Khalipah:

=  Sri Paduka Maraja (Mentioned in 1648), Panglima of Bandar Khalipah
Bangka:

= Kyai Samparo (Mentioned in 1668)

= Rulers of Bangka (Mentioned in 1672)

=  Pangeran Dipati Anum (Mentioned in 1714)
=  Syahbandar Bangka (Mentioned in 1714)



Barus:%®

=  Raja Kecil (c. 1670 — 1700)

=  Sultan Marah Tulang (ca. 1700 — 1730)

=  Sultan Munawar Shah (1730 - 1756)

= Sultan Marah Pangkat (1756 — 1798[?])

=  Raja Bongsu (Mentioned in 1712 — 1730)

=  Raja Megat Suka (Mentioned in 1730)

=  Raja lbrahim (1739 — ?; Mentioned up until 1767)
= Raja Barus (Mentioned in 1755 - 1775)

=  Lords of Barus (Mentioned between 1682 — 1775)

Batak:
=  Lords of Singkil (Mentioned in 1681)

Bayang:

=  Sultan Achmad Syah (Raja Bayang) (Mentioned between 1667 — 1708)
=  Raja Bayang (Mentioned in 1702 — 1708)
=  Panglima Sultan Bajang (Mentioned in 1728)

e Lords of Bayang (Mentioned in 1705 — 1713)

Bintanganteng:

=  Lords of Bintanganteng (Mentioned in 1705 — 1707)
Empat Suku (unknown location in/near Padang):

=  Lords of Empat Suku (Mentioned in 1707)

Jambi:1®

= Sultan Abdul Kahar (Pangeran Kedah) (1615-1643)
e Kyai Tandanegara (Mentioned in 1637)
e Ratu Mas of Jambi (Mentioned in 1641), Queen of Jambi
e Adia Tumenggung (Mentioned in 1637), Royal delegate
=  Pangeran Depati Anom Jambi (Sultan Agung Abdul Jalil ) (1643-1665)
e Kyai Demang DiradiWangsa (Mentioned between 1653-1661)
e Kyai Ranga Tuajiwa (Mentioned in 1657)
e Kyai Tumenggung Suramengrana (Mentioned in 1657)
e Kyai Ranga Tahajiwa (Mentioned in 1664)
= Sultan Abdul Mahji (Raden Penulis, Sultan Seri Ingologo) (1665-1679)
e Kyai Demang Surianegara (Pangeran Surianegara/Suranegara)(Mentioned
between 1664-1671)
e Pangeran Dipanegara Jambi (Mentioned between 1665-1682)
e Kyai Ranga Tadiuwa (Mentioned in 1668)
= Sultan Ingalaga of Jambi (1679 — 5 Sep. 1687)

15 ), Drakard, A Malay Frontier: Unity and Duality in a Sumatran Kingdom (lthaca: Southeast Asia Program, Cornell University Press 1990).
16 p ), Veth [ed.], Midden-Sumatra Ill:1 (1882); E. Locher-Scholten, Sumatraans Sultanaat en koloniale staat (VKI 161, Leiden 1994).



e Karaeng Tima (Mentioned in 1682), wife of Sultan Ingalaga
e Pangeran Purbanegara (Mentioned between 1682 — 1740)
e Syahbandar Wadiu Hajji (Kyai Wadiu Hajji) (Mentioned in 1682)
e  Pangeran Suryanata
e Kyai Pacca Tanda (Mentioned in 1681)
e Encik Bagus Surya (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Sultan Kyai Gede (Pangeran Adipati) (1687 — 1719)Y7
e Pangerang Pringgabaya (Mentioned in 1692 — 1710), 2" son of Ingalaga, actual
ruler of Jambi 1708
e Kyai Demang Arsamanggala (Mentioned in 1688)
e Pangeran Mankopraja (Mentioned in 1694)
e Sukarta Mankubumi (Mentioned in 1710 — 1714), wazir
e  Pangeran Sutawijaya (Mentioned in 1709)
*  Pangeran Dipanegara (Mentioned in 1686)
e Pangeran Natawijaya Mankunegara (Mentioned in 1692 — 1766)
=  Sultan Astra Ingalaga (Raden Astrawijaya) (1719 — 1725)
e Pangeran Dipati Suryanegara (Mentioned in 1722 — 1728), son of Kyai Gede
e Raden Demang (Mentioned in 1724), unknown
=  Sultan Muhammad (1725 - 1726)
=  Sultan Astra Ingalaga (1726 — 1742)
e Pangeran Nata Agama (Mentioned in 1725)
= Sultan Anum Seri Ingalaga (1742 — after 1783)
e Raden Pamuk Mai Mas Dipati (Mentioned in 1737)
e Raden Bakong (Mentioned in 1739)
* Raden Kubat (Mentioned in 1739)
e Pangeran Purbanegara (Mentioned in 1688 — 1740)
e Pangeran Mangkuningrat (Mentioned in 1742)
e Bagus Surya (Mentioned in 1742)
e Pangeran Ratu Jambi (Mentioned in 1764)
e Kyai Rangga (Mentioned in 1765), envoy
= Sultan Mas’ud Badaruddin (1791 - 1812)

Kambang:
= Lords of Kambang (Mentioned in 1705)
Kampung Baru (unknown location in/near Palembang):
= Raja Kampung Baru (Mentioned in 1705)
Kota Tengah:
=  Lords of Kota Tengah (Mentioned in 1702 — 1725)
Lampung:

=  Wangsayuda (Mentioned in 1682)

17 In the VOC Daghregisters Sultan Kiai Gede is still referred to as ‘Pangeran Depatti’, even after the VOC installed Sultan Kiai in 1687 to overrule
his father, Sultan Ingalaga. See: B. Watson Andaya, ‘Cash cropping and upstream-downstream tensions: the case of Jambi in the seventeenth
and eighteenth centuries’ in: A. Reid (ed.), Southeast Asia in the early moder era: trade, power, and belief (Ithaca and London: Cornell University
Press 1993): 91-122.



=  Pangeran Natanegara (Mentioned in 1682)
= Jalaludin Raja Muda (Mentioned in 1738)
=  Pangeran Tanulaga [?] (Mentioned in 1742)
= Raden Intan (Mentioned in 1810 — 1811)

Pagaruyung (Minangkabau):

= S. Ahmad Yamtuan Sakti (1666?-1674)
=  Raja Alam XXVI (Tuanku Perkasa Alam Pemangku) (1680 — 1695)
e Sultan Indermasyah (1674 — 1730)[?]
=  Pemangku Raja Alam XXVII (Tuanku Sultan Raja Bagewang I1) (1695 — 1719)
= Raja Alam XXVIII (Tuanku Sultan Arif Badaeunsyah) ( 1719 — 1739)
= Raja Alam XXIX (Tuanku Raja Alam Muningsyah I) (1739 — 1780)

Palembang:

=  Pangeran Palembang (Mentioned between 1636-1648)
e Raden Tumenggung Mataun (Matauwen) (Mentioned in 1637)
e Valério Gentil (Mentioned in 1641), Syahbandar Palembang
=  Kyai Panjangjiwa (Mentioned in 1657)
=  Tumenggung Batu Baturaja (Mentioned in 1657)
= SriSusuhunan Abdurrahman (Sultan Ratu Abdurrahman Khalifatul Mukminin Sayidul
Imam, Kyai Mas Endi, Pangeran Kusumo Abdurrahim) (1659 — 10 Dec. 1706), according
to Dagregisters he ruled as Susuhunan Ratu from 19 Sep. 1701 onward.® Also, though
Sultan Ratu died in 1706, his rulership was continued until 1710.%°
e Kyai Tumenggung Natapraja (Mentioned in 1668)
e Raja Champa (Mentioned in 1668)
e Raja Kuda (Mentioned in 1668)
e Pangeran Makabumi (Mentioned in 1678), Diplomat of Sri Susuhunan
Abdurrahman
e Kyai Mas Pangatitajiwa (Mentioned in 1685)
e Pangeran Dipati of Palembang (Mentioned in 1686 — 1720)
e Pangeran Dipakusuma (Pangeran Depati Anum) (Mentioned in 1687 — 1716)
e Pangeran Macanagara (Mentioned in 1691 — 1692)
e Pangeran Ratu Sinapati (Pangeran Senopati) (Mentioned in 1691 — 1698)
e Pangeran Kusumajaya (Mentioned in 1692)
e Pangeran Macanapura (Mentioned in 1692)
e Syahbandar Gerard van de Voorde (Mentioned in 1694)
e Pangeran Arya (Mentioned in 1694 — 1708)
e Kyai Andemov (Mentioned in 1681)
= Sultan Muhammad Mansyur (Jayo Ing Lago/Segon Sultan) (1706 — 7 Sep. 1714)
= Sultan Agung Kamaruddin (1714 — 1724)
e Pangeran Adipati Mankubumi (Mentioned in 1721)
e Wazir of Palembang (Mentioned in 1719), name unknown
e Shaybandar (Mentioned in 1717), name unknown
=  Sultan Mahmud Badaruddin | (1724 — 16 Sep. 1757)
e Pangeran Adi Wijaya (Mentioned in 1724)
=  Sultan Ahmad Najamuddin I (1757 — 16 Dec. 1776)

18 Dagregisters, 19 September 1701.
19 B.W. Andaya, To live as brothers: Southeast Sumatra in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries (Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press 1993):
126-127.



Padang:

e Pangeran Ratu Palembang (Mentioned in 1757)
e Ambassador of Sultan Ahmad Najamuddin | (Mentioned in 1764)
e Raden Demang Bonitan (Mentioned in 1764), Captain of the chief merchant of
Palembang
e Pangeran Muhammad Zengul Abidin (Mentioned in 1764)
e Wife of Pangeran Muhammad Zengul Abidin (Mentioned in 1764)
e Abdul Khamiz (Mentioned in 1770)
e Demang Suta Driaja (Mentioned in 1757)
e Rangga Jajapati (Mentioned in 1757)
Sultan Muhammad Bahauddin (1776 — 2 Apr. 1804)
Sultan Mahmud Badaruddin Il (Khalifatul Mukminin Sayidul Iman) (1804 — 1812)
e Tumenggung Astranandita (Mentioned in 1805)
e A.E. Palm (Mentioned in 1806)
e Said Ali lon Muhammad Maghanbi (Mentioned in 1798)
e Pangeran Syarif Muhammad (Mentioned in 1812)

Sampurna Tombiysyo (1661-1681
Orang Kaya Kecil (Mentioned between 1666-1667)
Khatib Muda (Mentioned in 1671), envoy
Panglima Serinara (Mentioned in 1678)
Panglima of Padang (Mentioned between 1678-1682)
Panglima Raja Darat (Mentioned in 1680)
Sultan Mametia (Mentioned in 1680)
Sri Raja Uleebalang Bandara (Mentioned in 1682)
e Raja Nanggadang (Mentioned in 1682)
e Raja Tonakel (Mentioned in 1682)
e RajaSeliman (Mentioned in 1682), Lord of Kota Tengah
e Raja Mankuta (Mentioned in 1682), Lord of Kota Tengah
e Sempurna Tombiysyo (Mentioned in 1682), Lord of Kota Tengah
e Governor Putih (Mentioned in 1680), Governor of Kota Tengah
e Raja Hitam (Mentioned in 1682)
Panglima Raja Padang (Mentioned in 1685 — 1707)
Maharaja Indra (Maharaja Indra Salida, Datuk Maharaja, Panglima Maharaja Laut)
(Mentioned in 1664 — 1711)
Panglima Raja Alam (Mentioned in 1705)
Dato Bendahara (Mentioned in 1705)
Raja Bayang (Mentioned in 1705)
Raja Ingse (Mentioned in 1709)
Raja Panggola (Mentioned in 1709)
Panglima Raja Darat (Mentioned in 1711 — 1725)
Sultan Mangus (mentioned in 1712)
Orang Kaya Siri Amar (Mentioned in 1712)
Raja Perempuan (Mentioned in 1723 — 1732), widow of Panglima Raja Alam
Panglima Sultana Mas (Mentioned in 1729 — 1735)
Panglima Suran Mar (Mentioned in 1739)
Panglima Raja Demana (Mentioned in 1754)
Panglima Wajul Raja (Mentioned in 1755)
Panglima Raja Mansyur (Mentioned in 1759 — 1774)
Dato Bendahara Padang (Mentioned in 1762)
anglimga Raja Bujang (Mentioned in 1765 — 1769)



=  Panglima Raja Jalil (Mentioned in 1770 — 1787)

=  Orang Kaya Panglima Sri Nara (Mentioned in 1771 — 1786)
=  Sutan Bongsu Panglima (Mentioned in 1772)

=  Sutan Idujatul (Mentioned in 1772)

=  Raja Pamangkas (Mentioned in 1772)

= Bendahara Raja Tambah Turah (Mentioned in 1774 — 1776)
=  Kapitan Cina (Mentioned in 1776)

=  Raja Pagar Rujung (Mentioned in 1776)

=  Bendahara Puteh (Mentioned in 1776)

=  Merchants from Padang (Mentioned in 1776)

=  Panglima Raja Dihilir (Mentioned in 1789 — 1794)

= Lords of Padang (Mentioned between 1661 — 1794)

Pariaman:
=  Raja Tankans (Mentioned in 1648)
e Maraja Desa (Mentioned in 1648), Panglima of Pariaman
= Lords of Pariaman (Mentioned in 1755)
Pauh:
=  Raja Putri (Mentioned in 1707)
e  Lords of Pauh (Mentioned in 1692 — 1707)
Inderapura

=  Sultan Muzzaffar Syah (1633-1660)
= Sultan Muhammad Syah (1660 — 1691)
e Mantris of Inderapura (mentioned between 1663-1672)
e Raja Adil (Mentioned in 1680), Regent of Mayutte
=  Sultan Mansur Syah (1691 - 1696)
=  Raja Pasisir Barat (1696 — 1746)
=  Mahmud Abdul Jalil Jalaluddin Shah (1740 - 23 Nov. 1760)
= Abdul Jalil Alamuddin Riayat Shah (16 Jan. 1761 — 1766)
¢ Raja Muda Muhammad Ali Shah (Mentioned in 1764 — 1766)
=  Muhammad Ali Abdul Jalil Muazzam (Mentioned in 1764 — 1766)
= Saiyid Ali bin Uthman Abdul Jalil Saifuddin (1797 — 1811)
e Dato Pakakoma Raja (Mentioned in 1800)
e Ratu Siri Pakaroma Raja (Mentioned in 1799)
e Lords of Inderapura (Mentioned in 1692 — 1707)

Silebar (Selebar):
=  Dipati Payung Negara (a. 1650 — 1695)

Salida (Painan):
=  Panglima Serinara (Mentioned in 1685 — 1759)
= QOrang Kaya Sultan Sampuna Raja Corbo

* Lords of Salida ((Mentioned in 1757 — 1786)
e Orang Kaya Sultan Sampuna Raja Corbo (Mentioned in 1754)



Semangka:

Susan:

Solok:

Telaga:

Tiku:

Tarusan:

Ujung Salang:

Ulakan:

Kalimantan/Borneo:

Sultan Ratu Mahmud Semak Shahdul Arafin (Mentioned in 1742)
Lords of Semangka (Mentioned in 1742)

Lords of Susan (Mentioned in 1717)

Paduka Raja Bandara (1669), Raja Solok and Son of Pangeran Serigala
Mahmud Badaruddin (Mentioned in 1720 — 1721)
Raja Solok (Mentioned in 1725), name unknown

Pangeran Dipati Sacanata (Mentioned in 1695 — 1702)

Lords of Tiku (Mentioned in 1705 — 1720)

Radja Hitam (1695 — 1725)
Raja Tarusan (Mentioned in 1754)

Raja Ujung Salang (Mentioned in 1645)

Lords of Ulakan (Mentioned in 1712 — 1714)
Raja Ulakan (Mentioned in 1711)

Banjar (Banjarmasin):

Sultan Banjar IV Marhum Panembahan (1595-1642)
e Raja Hitam Banjar (Mentioned in 1636)
e Pangeran Adipati Martapura (Mentioned in 1636), Brother of Sultan Agung,
possibly the same as Raja Hitam
Sultan Inayatullah (Ratu Agung, Ratu Lama (1642-1647)
Sultan Rakyatullah (1660-1663)
Sultan Tahlilullah (bin Sultan Saidullah, Sultan Amarullah Bagus Kasuma, Raden/Ratu
Bagus. Pangeran Suria Angsa, Pangeran Suria Diwangsa, Pangeran Suria Dilaga,
Pangeran Agung, Pangeran Martanegara) (1663 — 1700)
e Pangeran Haley (Mentioned in 1681)
Sultan Tahmidullah | (Sultan Surya Alam bin Sultan Tahlilullah) (1700 - 1717)
e Raja Arung Bujung (Mentioned in in 1708)



Batu Daya:

Bulungan:

Kota Waringin:

Matan:

e Manatuli (Mentioned in 1708), brother in law of Raja Arung Bujung
e Chinese captain of Banjarmasin (Mentioned in 1709)
e Wazir of Banjarmasin (Mentioned in 1716 — 1732), name unknown
Panembahan Kasuma Dilaga (bin Sultan Amrullah) (1717 — 1730)
Sultan Hamidullah (bin Sultan Tahmidullah I; Sultan Ilhamidullah/Sultan Kuning) (1730 —
1734)
e Pangeran Dipati of Banjarmasin (Mentioned in 1730), name unknown
e Lords of Banjarmasin (Mentioned in 1730 — 1797)
Sultan Tamjidullah | (1734 — 1759)
e Panembahan Kusuma Alam (Mentioned in 1735)
e Pangeran Kusumaningrat (Mentioned in 1735)
e Ratu Amir (Mentioned in 1754)
e Pangeran Natadilaga (Mentioned in 1756)
e Kyai Ingalaga Citasuta (Mentioned in 1755)
*  Ratu Anum (Mentioned in 1755 — 1803)
Sultan Muhammad Aliuddin Aminullah (bin Sultan Tamjidullah) (1759 — 1761)
e Pangeran Mas Dipati (Mentioned in 1760)
Sunan Nata Alam (1761 — 1801)
e Said Alwi Assegaf (unknown; Mentioned in 1797)
e Ambassador of Sunan Nata Alam (Mentioned in 1762)
e Arung Maryu (Mentioned in 1773)
e Sri Pangeran Abdullah (Mentioned in 1775)
Sultan Sulaiman Saidullah (1801 — 1825)
e Kyai Mas (Mentioned in 1797)
e Ratu Anum Yuda (Mentioned in 1789)
e Daying Tomajo (Mentioned in 1791)
e Raja Torawe (Mentioned in 1800)
e Panembahan Batu (Mentioned in 1801)
e Pangeran Haji Muhammad (Mentioned in 1802)
e Said Ali lon Muhammad Balow Sakhaf (Mentioned in 1798 — 1799)

Paduka Mulana Iskandar (Mentioned 1739)

Sultan Aji Muhammad bin Muhammad Zainul Abidin (1777 — 1817)

Paduka Ratu Anum Kasumayuda (1792 — 1817)

Matan was the successor state of Tanjung Pura and Sukadana.

Sultan Muhammad Zainuddin (Gusti Jakar Kencana) (1665-1724)
Sultan Ahmad Kamaluddin Indralaya (ca. 1749 — 1790)



Mempawah: 2

= Gusti Jamiril bergelar Panembahan Adiwijaya Kesuma (1761 — 1787)
Pangeran Anum Sumonegoro Kanangan
Panembahan Syarif Kasim (1787 — 1808)

Paser:
Defacto Pasir was ruled by regents in 1768 — 1788.

e Reng Reng Rituwak (Mentioned in 1796 — 1798)
e Raja Torau, head of a group of Wajorese merchants in Paser (Mentioned in
1787 — 1788)
e Pangeran Paser (Mentioned in 1760)
e  Amir Al-Mumenin (Mentioned in 1786 — 1787)
= Sultan Sulaiman Alamsyah (Sultan Pasir IV) (1799 — 1811)

Pontianak:
= Syarif Abdurrahman Al-Qadri (1771 — 1808)
= Syarif Kasim bin Abdul Rahman Al-Qadri (28 Feb 1808 — 25 Feb 1819)
Pulau Laut:
= Da’ud lbn Abas (Mentioned in 1786 — 1792)
= Capitan Hassan lbn Yusuf (Mentioned in 1803)
Sambas:
=  Pangeran Ratu Sambas (Mentioned in 1659)
=  Umar Akamaddin Il bin Abu Bakar Kamaluddin (1762 — 1790)
=  Sultan Abubakar Tajuddin 1 (1790 — 14 Sep. 1814)
e Pangeran Mas Jurit (Mentioned in 1801)
Sukadana:

During the reign of Panembahan Karang Tanjung, the center of the Tanjungpura kingdom, which was
originally located in Negeri Baru, moved to Sukadana, thus the name was changed to the kingdom of
Sukadana.

= Sultan Muhammad Zainuddin (ca. 1659 — 1725)
e Panembahan Ratu Sukadana (Mentioned between 1657-1670), ruler of
Sukadana (possibly Zainuddin himself)
= Amasunit (Mentioned in 1790)
=  Mas Jurit (Mentioned in 1800)

Tanjungpura (Matan/Sukadana):
Sukadana and Matan were the successor states of Tanjungpura (see above).

= Sultan Muhammad Zainuddin/Pangeran Muda (1659 — 1725)

20 http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Indonesia princely states2.html#Mampawa [2-6-2015]




e Wirasaba (Mentioned between 1659-1680), Governor of Tanjungpura
e (Kyai) Wargayuda (Mentioned between 1678-1679), Lord of Kota Babakan
e Tambacaya (Mentioned between 1678-1679), Lord of Kota Sensjoan
e Demang Raksanagara (Mentioned between 1681 — 1682)
e Pangeran Sanjang (Mentioned in 1684)
e Depati Panatayuda (Mentioned in 1695 — 1708)
e Ngabehi Nilipraja (Mentioned in 1717)
e Panembahan Siri Dilaga (Mentioned in 1717)
e Lords of Tanjungpura (Mentioned in 1682)
=  Tumenggung Diraja (Mentioned in 1741)
=  Batu Api (Mentioned in 1793), Unknown Buginese

West- and East Nusa Tenggara:

The VOC concluded treaties with various small lords in East-Nusa Tenggara, dividing the existing structures up in
various small kingdoms and maintaining relations with all of them. Hence the extensive lists of princedoms and
regencies on and around Timor, Rote, Solor and Savu. Not always the regents are mentioned in in the actual letter,
which is why some of the letters are registered as written by the “Lords of Kupang/Timor/Rote/Savu/etc.” and not
under the names of the rulers of the countless small regencies on these islands. Still, many of the rulers can be
traced by closely reading the signatures under these letters. Others are verified using mainly Hans Hdgerdals
excellent work on early colonial Timor.?*

Dompu:
= Abdulhamid Ahmad (1667 — 1697)
=  Abdul Kahar (Daeng Mamu) (1732 — 1749)
= Abdul Wahab (1787 — 10 Jul. 1793)
0 Lords of Dompu (Mentioned in 1788 — 1791)
=  Muhammad Zainal Abidin (1799 — 1805)
Ende:
= Raja Ende (Mentioned in 1793)
=  Raja Lakpali (Mentioned in 1797)
Kore:
=  Raja Kore (Mentioned in 1672)
Rote: 22

= Lords of Rote (Mentioned 1690 — 1807)

Regencies, villages and/or princedoms (nusak) on Rote?:

21 H, Hagerdal, Lords of the land, lords of the sea; Conflict and adaptation in early colonial Timor, 1600-1800 (Leiden: KITLV Press 2012).

22 ).J. Fox, ‘A Rotinese dynastic genealogy: structure and events’ in: T. O. Beidelman (ed.), The Translation of Culture: Essays to E.E. Evans-
Pritchard (London: Tavistock Publications 1971, reprinted 2013): 37-77; J.J. Fox, ‘The discourse and practice of precedence’ in: Michael P.
Vischer (ed.) Precedence: Social Differentiation in the Austronesian World ( Canberra: ANU Press 2009): 91-110; J.J. Fox ,‘Traditional Justice
and the ‘Court System’ of the Island of Roti’ in: The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology, 8:1 (2007): 59-73.

2 |bidem/P. Truhart, Regents of nations: systematic chronology of states and their political representatives in past and present. Part 3: Asia &
Pacific Oceania (Miinchen: K.G. Saur, 2" revised and enlarged ed. 2003).



The VOC settled treaties with numerous chiefs of tiny villages and regencies on Timor, Rote, Solor, Savu
and the other small islands in Nusa Tenggara. Tracing these locations and their rulers is very hard,
meaning that the VOC-archives function as our main source. The ruling periods of the rulers mentioned
below are often unclear. At this point, we were not able to insert a modern name for every letter, hence
the frequent use of “Lords of Rote, Solor and Timor”. Please note that inconsistencies in the database may
appear, as pointing out the correct rulers for every letter is incredibly time consuming and complicated.

0 Baa:

=  Duntu Dengka (Mentioned in 1763 — 1767)
= Thobias Lilo (Mentioned in 1769 — 1774)
= Raja Bad (Mentioned in 1753 — 1803

0 Batuisi (Oepau):

=  PuiKido (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Fokedo (Mentioned 1770 — 1775)

=  Raja Batuisi (Mentioned in 1692)

= Lords of Batuisi (Mentioned in 1692 — 1693)

=  Pela Aypila Kepala Mardyka (Head of the Mardijker-community near Bokai) (Mentioned
in 1763)

=  Pela Eey Kepala Mardyka (Head of the Mardijker-community near Bokai) (Mentioned in
1766)

= Jeug Sole (Mentioned in 1763)

= Suru Tupa (Mentioned in 1768)

= David Solu (Mentioned in 1769)

=  Raja Bilba (Mentioned in 1753 — 1809)

=  Manufe Henu (Mentioned in 1763)
=  Doki Manufe (Mentioned in 1803)
=  Raja Dengka (Mentioned in 1753)

o Diu

=  Nuy Besi (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Bola Moi (Mentioned in 1768)

=  Thomas Bola (Mentioned in 1771)

=  Raja Diu (Mentioned in 1753 — 1809)
0 Keka:

= Belang Setu Kepala Mardyka (Mentioned in 1773), regent of Talae as well
= Raja Keka (Mentioned in 1809)



0 Korbaffo:

=  Lewana Lewana (Mentioned in 1763)

= Christiaan Lewana (Mentioned in 1771)

=  Pelo Lodong (Mentioned in 1803)

=  Raja Korbafu (Mentioned in 1692 — 1809)

=  Raja Landu (Mentioned in 1686 — 1688)
=  Bane Dai Lafa (1758 - 18..), fetor?

=  Bane Dale (Mentioned in 1773), fetor

= AdiBane (Mentioned in 1803)

0 Lelenuk:

=  Pela Eey Kepala Mardyka (Mentioned in 1765 — 1772), see also Bokai
=  Raja Lelenuk (Mentioned in 1809)

=  Daumanu Dii (Mentioned in 1763)

= Daniel Huwang (Mentioned in 1770)

=  Daniel Daumano (Mentioned in 1771)

=  Erasmus Daumanu (Mentioned in 1803)
=  Raja Lole (Mentioned in 1809)

0 Ndao (separate island):

=  Lords of Ndao (Mentioned in 1763)

= Tety Doko (Mentioned in 1766 — 1774)
=  Duly Feti (Mentioned in 1766 — 1774)
=  Bunga Pau (Mentioned in 1773), fetor
= Lole Fitu (Mentioned in 1803 — 1804)
= Raja Ndao (Mentioned in 1753 — 1809)

0 Oenale:

= Sandak Nassie (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Girie Nassie (Mentioned in 1766 — 1774)
=  Poe Nassie (Mentioned in 1766)

=  Raja Oenale (Mentioned in 1753)

0 Ossipoka (Lelain):
= Nawong Dala (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Woltherus Nawong (Mentioned in 1769)
=  Raja Ossipoka (Mentioned in 1753)

24 Executive regent.



0 Ringu (unknown):

=  Lords of Ringu (Mentioned in 1693)

= Bayana Lete (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Hendrik Ngaladai (Mentioned in 1803)
= Raja Ringu (Mentioned in 1753 — 1809)

0 Talae (see also: Keka):

= Belang Setu Kepala Mardyka (Mentioned in 1773), regent of Keka as well
= Raja Talae (Mentioned in 1809)

0 Termanu/Termane:

=  Pelo Sira (Metioned in 1690)

=  Sadok (Metioned in 1690)

= Sadu Kiu (Mentioned in 1682 — 1689), co-regent
=  Balo (Mentioned in 1740), uncertain

=  Fora Sinlai (Mentioned in 1763 — 1774)

=  Andries Fora Mudah (Mentioned in 1803)

= Jeremias Lusi Du (Mentioned in 1803)

=  Raja Termanu (Mentioned in 1753)

=  May Messakh (1697 — 1703)
=  Nale Messakh (1703 - 1717)
=  Benjamin Foe Mbura (1728 — 1748)
=  Messakh Pah [Messak Pad] (c. 1752)
=  Alehandre Nessa (Mentioned in 1769)
= Bastiaan Pura Kaim Davids (Mentioned in 1771)
=  David Kailere (Mentioned in 1803)
*  Lords of Thie (Mentioned in 1699 )
e Raja Thie (Mentioned in 1753 — 1809)

Selaparang (Lombok):*

The islamic kingdom of Selaparang was conquered and ruled by Karangasem since the 1740s. Its rulers
were therefore the rulers or co-rulers of Karangasem and Selaparang at the same time.

= Gusti Gede Ngurah Karangasem (1775 — ca. 1806), co-ruler of Karangasem as well.
= Gusti Ngurah Made Karangasem (1775 — ca. 1800)
0 Lords of Selaparang (Mentioned in 1787)

Tanjung Karang (Lombok, vassal Kings under Selaparang):

= Gusti Madi Karangasem (1785 — 1792 and onward), Vassal king of Tanjung
Karang/Pagesangan from the Karangasem dynasty
= Gusti Wayahan Tegeh (ca. 1740 - 1775), Vassal king of Tanjung Karang/Pagesangan

25 Adrian Vickers, The Desiring Prince.



Pagesangan (Lombok, vassal Kings under Selaparang):

= Gusti Madi Karangasem (1785 — 1792), Vassal king of Tanjung Karang/Pagesangan from
the Karangasem dynasty

= Gusti Wayahan Tegeh (ca. 1740 - 1775), Vassal king of Tanjung Karang/Pagesangan
from the Karangasem dynasty

= Gusti Ketut Karang (ca. 1773 — 1783[?]), Vassal king of Pagesangan

= Gusti (Anak) Agung Nengah Tegeh (Before 1804 — ca. 1836), Vassal king of Pagesangan

Savu (island):
=  Lords of Savu (Mentioned in 1754 — 1797)
=  Duae of Timu, The VOC consiedered the chief, or Duae, of Tivu (or Divu) the dominant
ruler over Savu in the 17" and 18" centuries.?® See below.
Regencies, villages and/or princedoms on Savu:
0 Liae (unknown):
=  Manu Kore (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)
0 Mania:
=  Bongu Tagi (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)

0 Mesara:

= Jaga Riwu (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)
= Buki Dima (Mentioned in 1785)

0 Raijua:

= Liai Njebe (Mentioned 1766 — 1787)
0 Seba:

= Jara Wanda (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)

=  LomilJara (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)
=  Deka Lomi (Mentioned in 1785)

= Hili Hab’a (Sili Sab’a); Sili Seba, (1731 — 1798)?’, broker/mediator of the VOC in Mocha
=  Elias J’ara (Dj’ara) Hili (Sili) (1798 — 1805)
= Raja Timu (Mentioned 1763 — 1787)

Solor (island): See Lohayong

Regencies, villages and/or princedoms on Solor and Adonara:?®

26 Hagerdal, Lords of the land, lords of the sea: 229.
27 |Ibidem: 97, 229; https://sultansinindonesieblog.wordpress.com/savu-island/raja-of-timu/ [3-19-2015]
28 |bidem.




The three kingdoms on the island of Adonara (Adonara, Lamahala and Terong) and the two kingdoms on
the island of Solor (Lamakera and Lohayong) are known as the Watan Lima (‘Five Shores’), headed by
Lohayong. Supposedly, the descendents of these kingdoms are Bugis.

0 Adonara:

= Sangaji Adonara (Mentioned in 1681 — 1761)

=  Demang Ruaman (Mentioned in 1695)

=  Sangaji Gaik Kawang (Sangaji of Lohayong and Terong as well; see below. Mentioned in
1766 — 1769)

0 Lamahala (on Adonara):

=  Sangaji Bolo (Mentioned between 1681- 1688)
=  Sangaji Lamahala (Mentioned in 1684 — 1789)
= Sangaji Arki (Mentioned in 1771 — 1772)

= Sultan Parsiku (Mentioned in 1775)

0 Lamakera (on Solor):

=  Sangaji Dasi (1665 — 1701[?])

=  Jacob Dasi (1695 — 1731), son of Sangaji Dasi

=  Sangaji Lesi (Mentioned in 1754 — 1769)

=  Sangaji Karaeng (Mentioned in 1675 — 1698)

=  Orang Kaya’s of Lamakera (Mentioned in 1692 — 1742)
=  Sangaji Mau Dasi (1721 - 1733)

=  Sangaji Lesi Mau (Mentioned in 1770 — 1774)

=  Sangaji Karaeng (Menioned 1754 — 1767)

=  Sangaji Lesi Mares (Mentioned in 1772 — 1775)

=  Sangaji Lamakera (Mentioned in 1683 — 1742)

= Lords of Lamakera (Mentioned in 1786)

=  Sangaji Buang Lesi (Mentioned in 1786 — 1787)

= Orang Tua's of Lamakera (Mentioned in 1785 — 1806)
=  Sangaji Dasi Lesi (Mentioned in 1774 — 1777)

=  Sangaji Baki (Mentioned in 1801)

0 Lohayong/Solor:

= Kaicili Pertawi (1613-1645)

=  Guru Kecil Trong (Mentioned in 1681)

*  Nyai Cili (1646 — 1664), widow

= Nyai Cili Muda (1664 — 1686), granddaughter of Nyai Cili
= Kapitan Paro (Mentioned between 1681-1682)
=  Sangaji Loharing (Mentioned in 1672)
= Sangaji of Terong (Mentioned in 1667)
=  Sangaji Trong Wari Amon (Mentioned in 1681)
=  Sangajj Pula of Lamahala (Subang Pula)(Mentioned in 1681)

= Sangaji Cili (1687 — 1700), nephew of Poro I[?]
=  Kapitan Poro (Mentioned in 1684 — 1695)

=  Sangaji Lohayong (Mentioned in 1695 — 1809)

= Poroll (1700 — 1703)

=  Sangaji Juk (Mentioned in 1753 — 1757)



=  QOrang Kaya’s of Lohayong (Mentioned in 1754 — 1804)
=  Sangaji Jumarat (Mentioned in 1760 — 1789)

=  Sangaji Gaik Kawang (Mentionedin 1769 — 1789)

=  Orang Tua's of Lohayong (Mentioned in 1790 — 1804)
=  Sangaji Ju Rama Bauwama (Mentioned in 1803)

0 Menanga:

= Sultan Persiku (Mentioned in 1769 — 1772)
= Sultan Kewang (Mentioned in 1782), fled to Alor around 1781/1782 according to VOC
sources
=  Kapitan Menanga (Mentioned in 1793)
=  QOrang Kaya's of Menanga (Mentioned in 1770 — 1772)
=  Orang Tua’s of Menanga (Mentioned in 1793)

0 Terong (on Adonara):

= sangaji Damet ([ (Ventioned between 1675 — 1692)

= Sangaji Terong (Mentioned ion 1684 — 1742)
=  Sangaji Gaik Kawang (see above)
=  Sangaji Lewang (Mentioned in 1775)
=  Orang Tua's of Terong (Mentioned in 1789)
0 Saluwi:
=  Sangaji Saluwi (Mentioned in 1739)
0 Wasing:
=  Sangaji Wasing (Mentioned in 1741)
Sumba (island):
= Lords of Sumba (Mentioned in 1754)
Regencies, villages and/or princedoms on Sumba:
0 Manyili:
=  Raja Lakar (Mentioned in 1754 — 1771)

Sumbawa (island):

= Dewa Mas Goa (Amet Goa) (1668-1684), Sultan of Sumbawa and Brother of Dewa Mas
Pamayam
e Lords of Sumbawa (Mentioned in 1681)
e Toja Derwits (Mentioned between 1680 — 1682), courtier and merchant from
overseas
=  Sultan Hasanurrasyid | (Dewa Mas Bantan Datu Loka) (1672/1675 — 1701)
e Brother of Sultan Harunurrasyid | (Mentioned in 1689)s
= Dewa Mas Madina (1701 — 12 Feb. 1725)
=  Dewa Mas Muhammad Jalaluddin I (1725 — 1731)



Bima:

Dewa Mas Mapasusung Muhammad Kahharuddin | (1731 — 1759)
e Raden Pati (Mentioned in 1766 — 1767)
Mahmud Datu Jereweh (1780 — 1791)
Safiatuddin Daeng Masiki (1791 — 1795), no letters sent or received
Muhammad Kahharuddin Il (1795 — 1816)
* Nene Wazir Ranga Mualam, wazir (Mentioned in 1807 — 1810)

Bima was a Sultanate on Sumbawa.

Sanggar:

Tambora:

Sultan Abi’l-Kahair Sirajuddin (1646-1682)
e Karaeng Panaraga (Paduka Raja Panaraga) Son of Sultan Abi’l-Kahair Sirajuddin,
Brother of Daeng Nisali, Commander of VOC troops (1676-1682)

e Turilia Gampo (Mentioned between 1671-1681), possibly multiple persons
Sultan Nuruddin Abu Bakar (Ali Shah bin Sultan Abdul Khair Sirajuddin (Mapparabung)
(1682 — 23 Jul. 1687)

e Bumi Pantika (mentioned in 1682)

e Tureli Nggampo Abdurrahim (Mentioned in 1684)

e Karaeng Tojing (Mentioned | 1685)

e Jeneli Sape (Mentioned in 1687 — 1698)

Sultan Jamaluddin Inayat Shah bin Sultan Nuruddin Abu Bakar Ali Shah (1687 — 6 Jul.
1696)

e Wife of Sultan Jamaluddin (Mentioned in 1694)

e Raden Tanumaju, (Mentioned in 1695), queen of Bima

e Bumi Pantica (Mentioned in 1698), wazir

* Jeneli Rasnai (Mentioned in 1698)

Sultan Hasanuddin Muhammad Ali Shah bin Sultan Jamaluddin (1696 — 21 Nov. 1731)
Sultan Alauddin Muhammad Shah Zillullahi fi al Alam bin Sultan Hasanuddin (1731 —
1748)

Sultan Abdul Karim Muhammad (28 Jun. 1751 — 31 Aug. 1773)

e Jeneli Wawaha Hilir (Mentioned in 1771), first minister
Sultan Abdul Hamid (Syafiuddin Abdul Hamid Muhammad) (31 Aug. 1773 — 14 Jul. 1817)

e Lords of Bima (Mentioned in 1687 — 1808)

Muhammad Sulaiman (1790 — 21 Mar. 1805)

The kingdom of Tambora on Sumbawa was completely destroyed in the volcanic eruption of Mount
Tambora in 1815.

Raja Jamaluddin (1675[?] — 1687)
Sultan Abdul Bashir (Nizam ad-Din Abd al-Basir/Abdul Raja/Abdul Lasi) (1687 — 13 Aug.
1697), exiled to Cape of Good Hope in 1697 and 1716%°
Damala Daeng Mamongon (Djamaluddin) (1697 — 1716)
e Adipati Suryanata (Mentioned in 17310, unknown
Abd al-Rahman (1726 — 1748)

29 Ward, Networks of empire.



= Abdul Rasyid Tajul Arifin (1779 — 1800)
e Lords of Tambora (Mentioned in 1800)

Timor (several regencies, see below):3°

=  Orang Kaya Timor (Mentioned in 1637)

=  (Tumenggung) Zay Zifi (Mentioned in 1675)

= Pedro Simons (Mentioned in 1679)

=  Lords of Timor (Mentioned in 1728), see below
=  Abraham Leaisay (Mentioned in 1766)

=  Amekasi Leaisay (Mentioned in 1688), unknown

Regencies and Princedoms on Timor:

Several contracts were settled with different princedoms on Eastern Timor. A major contract was settled
with Jacinto Correia, ‘the grand prince of the wide-embracing Kingdom of Belu and sovereign king of
Wewiku-Wehali’, in 1755, gathering together various of these princedoms. The princedoms Mentioned in
below are all very small and it is hard to trace their modern whereabouts. Most of the rulers listed below
can only be verified by reading the VOC sources. See also Hans Hdgerdal’s Lords of the Land, Lords of the
Sea.3! Be aware that the correctness of the rulers’ names as listed below can not fully be guaranteed.

0 Ainara (unknown):
= Raja Ainara (Mentioned in 1763)
0 Amabi:

=  Ama Kefil (Meu?) (1666 —1704)
e (Tumenggung) Ama Cabo (Mentioned in 1675)
e Ama Tavan (Mentioned in 1675), Military commander
= Ama Kefill (1704 — 1725)
*  Loti(1725-1730)
= NaiBalas (1732 — 1755), regent-ruler; brother of Loti
=  Balthazar Loti (1755 — 1790), son of Loti
= Afu Balthazar (circa 1797 — before 1824)

0 Amakono:
= Johannes Albertus Taffi (1760 — 1776), king of Sonbai Keci as well [see below]
=  QOeynumu (Mentioned in 1766 — 1790)
= Lords of Amakono (Mentioned in 1790)
=  Raja Amakono (Mentioned in 1790 — 1793)

0 Amanatu:

=  Don Luis | (Mentioned in 1764 — 1766), king of Amanuban as well [see below]
= Joang (Mentioned in 1766)

0 Amanuban:

30 Hagerdal, Lords of the land, lords of the sea.
31 Hagerdal, Lords of the land, lords of the sea: 378-9.



=  Pinis Bil (ca. 1720)
= Don Luis (1751 -1770)
=  Don Jacobus Albertus (Kobis) (1770 — 1806)

0 Amarasi:

=  Amekasi Leaisay (Mentioned in 1688),

=  Dom Affongo Hornay (1751 — 1774), son
=  Rote Ruatefu (1774 — 1802), son

=  Kiri Lote (1803 — before 1832), son

0 Ambenu:
=  Nai Nobe Dom Paulo (1761 — after 1764)

0 Amfoan (Oesapa):

Amfoan, a state in West Timor, was initially called Sorbian and ruled by the Kings of Taebenu in the
16th and early 17th centuries. Thereafter, it was named Amfoan and split into two branches: Amfoan
Naiklioe and Amfoan Timau. The Raja of Amfoan Naikliu was only ruling the city of Naikliu together
with a few villages around it, while the Raja of Amfoan Timau ruled the mountainous inland area. This
separation was encouraged by the Dutch, but the branches were reunited in 1910.%?

= NaiToas (1683 — ca. 1698)

=  Am Foan (? — 1708), son of Nai Toas[?]

=  Dom Manuel (1708 — 1718), son of Am Foan
=  Daniel | (1718 — 48), uncle of Dom Manuel

=  Bartholomeus Daniel | (1748 — 1776), son

= Bartholomeus Il (1783 — 1795), brother

0 Atsabe:
=  Sama Lela (Mentioned in 1763)
=  Don Bernardo Hendriko (Mentioned in 1773)
=  Raja Atsabe (Mentioned in 1757 — 1773)
0 BaniBani:
= Don Luis Pereru (Mentioned in 1763 — 1769)

0 Batubara (unknown):

=  Raja Batubara (Mentioned in 1759)
= Don Pedor (Mentioned in 1768)

0 Dirma:

=  Nai Talain (Mentioned in 1763)
=  Hane Tai Raja (Mentioned in 1760)

32 https://sultansinindonesieblog.wordpress.com/timor-2/raja-of-amfoan/ [4-10-2015].




Meu Manu (Mentioned in 1769)

Ermera:

=  Don Miguel Mutika (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Lolobere (Mentioned in 1768 — 1774)

=  Raja Ermera (Mentioned in 1773 — 1774)
Fatuboro:

=  Don Padre Gomez (Mentioned in 1763)
Fialaran:

=  Raja Fialaran (Mentioned in 1773 —1774)
Funai:

= Lafu Koen (Mentioned in 1763 — 1766)

= Muni Obe (Mentioned in 1763)

=  Bui Bu (Mentioned in 1763)

= Lords of Funai (Mentioned in 1764)

= Johannes Lili (Mentioned in 1799 — 1803)
Insana:

Nai Takuru (Mentioned in 1763)

Jurwati (unknown):

Pi Lebo (Mentioned in 1773)
Raja Jurwati (Mentioned in 1773)

Kesnai (part of the Sonbai realm):

Kupang:

Nai Pres (Mentioned in 1765)
Tamama (Mentioned in 1769)

Military officers (Mentioned in 1797 — 1798):

(0]
(0]

Rulers:

Lieutenants at Kupang (Mentioned in 1797 — 1798)
Cornets at Kupang (Mentioned in 1797 — 1798)

Ama Susang, regent-ruler (1660[?] — 1698)
e Ama Besi (1660-1678), Co-ruler of Kupang and Military commander of Kupang
Pono Koi (1673 — 1691), son of Ama Pono I!
Ama Tomananu (1698 — 1731), son of Ama Susang
Buni (1732 — 1749), grandson of Ama Besi



e Lords of Kupang (Mentioned in 1739 — 1806)
= Lasi Tepak (1760 — 1770), descended from Ama Pono |l
e Sangaji Lisko-un Susan (Mentioned in 1774 — 1775), fetor
= Tepak Lasi (1786 —circa 1798)33 son of Lasi Tepak
= Susang Manas (circa 1795 — after 1803), son of Nai Manas [?]
e Sara Tielman (Mentioned in 1797), widow of a ruler[Tapak Lasi?] in Kupang
0 Lanqueiro:
= Turleki (Mentioned in 1763 — 1768)
0 Leimea (unknown):
=  Don Mankel Gomez (Mentioned in 1763)
0 Manlia (unknown):
= Tai Ko Es (Mentioned in 1763 — 1769)
0 Manreuw:
=  Raja Manreuw (Mentioned in 1763)
0 Maubara:
=  Dom José Xavier Doutel (1754 — 1776) 3*
= Raja Filara (Mentioned in 1766)
=  Lords of Maubara (Mentioned in 1763 — 1803)
0 Maureo (unknown):
=  Raja Maureo (Mentioned in 1765)
0 Nailake (unknown):
= Don Anthoni (Mentioned in 1764 — 1766)
0 Nai Niap (part of the Sonbai realm):
= Kaoula (Mentioned in 1789)
= Naykeek (Mentioned in 1766)
=  Raja Nai Niap (Mentioned in 1790 — 1793)
0 Nai Timu (unknown):

=  Roma Uk (Mentioned in 1764 — 1765)

0 Nenometan:

=  Tobinoni (Mentioned in 1763)

33 Circa -1795 according to Hagerdal, but Tepak Lasi is Mentioned in in a letter from 1798.
34 lbidem: 422; ANRI, HR, Inlandse Brieven: fol. 37.
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Nobi-nobi:
= Lords of Nobi-nobi (Mentioned in 1767 — 1784)
Nusa Dila (unknown):

=  lay Lor (Mentioned | 1763 —1778)
=  Don Suse (Mentioned in 1768)
= Raja Nusa Dila (Mentioned in 1773 — 1774)

Pola (unknown):
=  Raja Pola (Mentioned in 1767), unkown
Raknamo:

=  Raja Toncanak (Mentioned in 1686 — 1687)
= Lords of Raknamo (Mentioned in1687)

Sonbai (Sonbai Besar):

= Ama Tuan | (1650-1680)
= Ama Tomananu, executive regent of Sonbai Besar and Kuoang; see above
e Ama Pot (Mentioned in 1675), Sonbai Aristocrat
e (Tumenggung) Amanisi (Mentioned in 1675)
e (Tumenggung) Amayki (Mentioned in 1675)
= Nai Manas Sonbai (? — ?), son of Ama Tomanu[?]
=  Ama Baki, regent (1699 — 1708)
= Nony Sonbait (1682 — 1717), regent
= Nai Neno Sonbai (Dom Pedro Tomenu) (1704 — 1726), son of Nony Sonbait
= Alphonsus Adrianus (Nai Kau Sonbai) (1768 — 1802), son

Sonbai (Sonbai Kecil):3°

=  AmaTuan Il (1659-1672)

=  BiSonbai (Usi Tetu Utang ) (1682 — 1717)

=  Bernardus Leu (1717 — 1726), son of Nai Neno Sonbai

=  Corneo Leu (1728 — 1748), brother of Bernardus Leu

= Daniel Tafin Leu (1748 — 1760), brother

=  Jacobus Albertus Taffy (1760 — 1776), son of Bernardus de Leeuw

=  Bernadus Nisnoni or Baki Bena (1776 — 1795), so-called brother of Jacobus
Albertus Taffy

=  Pieter Nube Bena (1798 — 1821), brother of Bernardus Nisnoni

Sorbian (Amfoan Timau):
=  Tusala (Susale) Taiboko (1753 — 1779), brother

e Lords of Amfoang (Mentioned in 1775 — 1786)
=  Talnoni Forisa (1779 — 1808 [?]), son

35 |bidem.



e  Lords of Sorbian (Mentioned in 1775 — 1786)

Sorebang:

= Raja Sorbeang (Mentioned in 1803)
Taebenu (Fetors):*®

=  Tanof | (Lasi Lelo Taebenu) (1688 — ca. 1700/1701)

= Tanof Il (Tanof Lasi) (ca. 1701 — ca. 1729), nephew of Tanof I[?]

=  EkiTanof (ca. 1729 — 1756)

=  Nai Tus Tanof (1737 — 1768), son of Tanof Il

=  Marcus Kobe Tanof (Mentioned in 1746 — 1803), uncle
Wehali:

=  Anténio de Melo (Mentioned in 1767)
=  Tanenti (Mentioned in 1789)

Wewiku:
=  Nai Lio Rai Perera (Mentioned in 1765)
=  Anthony Perera (Mentioned in 1767)
=  Albie te Soza (Mentioned in 1769)
= Raja Wewiku (Mentioned in 1790 — 1793)

Wiwoki (unknown):

=  Nai Tanesi (Mentioned in 1763 — 1765)

Europeans (and rulers of/in European settlements) in Asia:

Banten:

= Bartolomeu de Roboredo (Mentioned in 1637), Priest

= Diego de Sousa de Menezes (Mentioned in 1641), Portuguese merchant
=  Manuel de Morais Pemenca (Mentioned in 1641), Portuguese merchant
= Charles Willoughby (Mentioned in 1644), EIC servant

=  Ralph Cartwright (Mentioned in 1644), EIC servant

=  Thomas lvie (Mentioned in 1644), EIC servant

=  Thomas Winter (Mentioned in 1644), EIC servant

=  Frederick Skinner (1652-1658), EIC agent in Banten

0 Robert Skinner (Mentioned in 1657), EIC captain of the ship "Frederick" and

Brother of Frederick Skinner
0 James Bostock (Mentioned in 1657), EIC servant
0 John Rawlins (Mentioned in 1657), EIC servant

36 Executive regents; see glossarium.



John Cunnis (Mentioned in 1657), Captain of the ship "Marijgold"
Roger Andrews (Mentioned in 1657), Captain of the ship "Marijgold"
John Kingsman (Mentioned in 1657), Shipper on the ship 'Postillion’
Lawrence Browning (Mentioned in 1657), EIC captain of the ships "Francis" and
"John"
Robert Cock (Mentioned in 1657), EIC servant
Samuel Cart (Mentioned in 1657), Merchant on the ship 'Postillion’
= John Edwards (1658 -1661), EIC Regent in Banten
Henry Pearle (Mentioned between 1659-1669), EIC Servant
Jules Wildey (Mentioned in 1659), Captain of the ship "d' Advys"
Nicholas Badiford (Mentioned in 1659), Captain of the ship the Dragon
Peter Cooke (Mentioned between 159-1663), Captain of the ship "d' Coopmans
Vreuchde" and EIC servent
Richard Mohum (Mentioned in 1659), EIC servant
Robert Street (Mentioned in 1659), EIC Servant
Thomas Bell (Mentioned in 1659), Ship Captain
Thomas Clough (Mentioned in 1659), Captain of the ship "d' Coopmans
Vreuchde" and EIC Servant
0 William Mainstone (Mentioned in 1659), EIC Servant
=  Henry Page (1661-1661), EIC regent
0 John Dutton (Duton) (Mentioned in 1661), EIC servant
0 Stephen Michelsen (Mentioned in 1661), Captain of the ship "New Castle"
= John Hunter (1661-1664), EIC regent
0 Humphrey Weston (Mentioned between 1663-1664), EIC servant
0 Phillip Travers (Mentioned in 1664), EIC servant
= Charles Browne (1664-1665), EIC regent
0 Vincent Vette (Mentioned in 1664),
0 James Browne (Mentioned in 1665), EIC servant
0 Robert Kopper (Mentioned in 1665), EIC servant
0 Thom Stevenson (Mentioned in 1664-1665)
= William Turnor (Turner) (1665-1669), EIC Regent
0 Thomas Harrington (Mentioned between 1664-1669), EIC servant
0 W. Mainstone (Mentioned in 1669), EIC servant
0 Hammond Elihu Gibbon (Mentioned in 1669), EIC servant
0 Lawrence Chambers (Mentioned in 1669), EIC servant
0 Roger Lorimer (Mentioned in 1669), EIC servant
=  Henry Dacres (1669-1676), EIC regent
= Arnold White (1676-1677), Agent of the British East India Company
=  Abel Payne (Albert Payne) (1677-1678), Agent of the British East India Company
0 Raphal Cooke (Mentioned in 1677), Agent of the British East India Company
0 Robert Marshall (Mentioned in 1677), Agent of the British East India Company
=  Robert Parker (1678-1681), Agent of the British East India Company
0 William Muray (Mentioned in 1679)
0 William Goodlad (Mentioned in 1679), British captain
= Charles Sweeting (mentioned in 1682), Regent of the British East India Company
0 Samuel Griffith (Mentioned in 1681), 2nd regent of the Birtish East India
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Company

0 George Clowne (mentioned in 1682), 3th Regent of the British East India
Company

0 Nathaniel Nitch (mentioned in 1682)

0 John Styleman (John Stileman, Joe Stilema) (Mentioned in 1682), Councilman of

the British East India Company in Banten
0 Edward Barwell (mentioned in 1682) Regent of the British East India Company



Bone:

Benkulu:

0 Nicholas Waite (Nick Waite) (Mentioned in 1682), Delegate of the British East
India Company, Governor of Bombay
0 Francois Bourdieux (Francis Boulder, Francois Boyer, Francois Bouwyeart),
British agent in Banten likely of French origin
Aaron Baker (1640-1643, 1645-1649, 1650-1652), President of the British East India
Company
Antodnio Fialho Ferreira (Mentioned in 1641), Comendador da Ordem de Cristo
Alexander Preston (Mentioned in 1657), Captain of the ship "Jonathan"
Andreas Gomes (Mentioned in 1664), Jesuit
Castilian Captain (Mentioned in 1668)
Patre Maurice (Mentioned in 1672), Delegate of the French King
0 Francois (Mentioned in 1672), Patre of Heliopolis
Pilavoine (Mentioned in 1670), French East India Company Merchant on the St. Francoys
0 Vimont (Mentioned in 1670), French East India Company captain of St.
Francoys
Albarto de Crus Queralos (Mentioned in 1678), Armenian merchant
J. Joachum Pauli (mentioned between 1673- 1682), Regent of the Danish East India
Company
Guilhem (Mentioned between 1679 -1682), Regent of the French East India Company
0 Jacques Boureau (Mentioned in 1681), Regent in Banten for the French East
Indian Company
Ignacio Manuel Rodriguez (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
0 Jerbnimo de Abreu de Lima (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Laurenco Marini (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Lucas de Cunka Manuel Pereira (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Manuel Alvres Gongalo Monteiro de Carvalho (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese
merchant
Gregorio d' Almeida (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Joao de Ramos (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Vincent Ribeiro de Soura (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Louis Imica (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Marten Lopez (Mentioned in 1682), Portuguese merchant
Francisco Coutinho (Mentioned in 1682) , Portuguese merchant
0 Portuguese merchants in Banten (Mentioned in 1682)
Merchants of the vessel Egelenburgh (Mentioned in 1682)
Philippe Couplet (Philip Couplet, Philippus Couplet, Philippus Copletius) (mentioned
between 1663 -1682), Belgian Jesuit Father
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Edward Greenhill (Mentioned in 1682), British Captain

0 Lords of Benkulu (Nacadas of Silebar) (Mentioned in 1682)
Governor Matthew Mildmay (1696 — 1699)
Governor Joseph Collett (1712 — 1716)
Governor Richard Farmer (1717 —1718)
Governor Isaac Pyke (1719 — 1723)
Governor Francis Everest (1731 — 1736)
Governor Robert Lennox (1736 — 1746)
0 Chinese in Benkulu (Mentioned in 1719), name unknown
0 Pangeran Mankuraja (Mentioned in 1719), unknown



Dansburgh:
=  Eshel Andresen (Mentioned in 1668), Governor
=  Herman Eggertsen (Mentioned between 1670-1671), Temporary supervisor
=  Sivardt Adelaer (Mentioned between 1675-1679), Governor-General of the Danish East
India Company

Goa:
= Jodo da Silva Telo e Meneses (conde de Aveiras) (1640-1644), Viceroy Goa
0 Joan De Sousa Pereira (Mentioned in 1643), Portuguese regent of Goa
=  Gonsalvo Martinus (Mentioned in 1663), Portuguese Priest
= Jodo Nunes da Cunha (1666-1668), Viceroy of Goa
=  Manuel Corte-Real de Sampaio (1668-1671), One of the three governors of Portuguese
India between 1668 and 1671
=  Antdnio de Melo e Castro (1668- 1671), One of the three governors of Portuguese India
between 1668 and 1671
= Antdnio Barreto, Portuguese regent of Kodungallur
=  Viceroy Francisco José de Sampaio e Castro (1720 — Jul. 1723), Governor of Portuguese
India
Jambi:
=  Thomas Leaver (Mentioned in 1659), EIC Servant
=  Robert Street (Mentioned in 1659), EIC Servant
Keelung:
= Gonsalo Portilis (Mentioned in 1641), Governor of Spanish Formosa
Kolkota:

=  Warren Hastings (1673-1685)

Larantuka (Portuguese Solor):

=  Antdnio Hornay, acting Captain-Major (1673 — 1693)

=  Francisco Hornay, acting Captain-Major (1694 — 1696)

=  Anténio de Mesquita Pimente, Captain-Major (1696— 1697), viceroy-appointed Governor
and Captain-General of the islands of Solor and Timor®’

=  Governor Domingos da Costa (1697 — 1702)

Lifau (PortugueseTimor):

=  Captain-Major André Coelho Vieira (1697 — 1708)

=  Governor-General JAcome de Morais Sarmento, (1706 —1710)

=  Governor Manuel de Souto-Maior, (1709 — 1714)

=  Governor Pedro do Rego Barreto da Gama e Castro, (1731 — 1734)
=  Governor Antdnio Moniz de Macedo (1734 — 1739)

Macao:
=  Governor Sebastido Lobo da Silveira (1638-1645)

37, J). Fox ‘Tracing the path, recounting the past: historical perspectives on Timor’ in: J.J. Fox and D. Babo Soares (eds.), Out of the Ashes:
Destruction and Reconstruction o East Timor (Adelaide: Crawford House, 2000): 1-23: 10.



Consalvo Carvallo (Mentioned in 1640)
Louis Panico (Mentioned in 1640)
Simon Vaz de Pavia (Mentioned in 1640)
0 Rodrigo Santhos (Mentioned in 1640)
=  Governor Luis de Carvalho e Sousa (1644-1647)
0 Manuel Fernandos (Mentioned in 1644)
= Governor Alvaro da Silva (1667-1670)
0 Anthony Francisco (Mentioned in 1669)
0 Manuel de Fonseca (Mentioned in 1669)
0 Manuel Dos Reys (Mentioned in 1669)
=  Governor Manuel Borges da Silva (1670-1672)
= Governor Anténio Barbosa Lobo (1672- 1678)
= Governor Anténio De Castro De Sando (1678-1679)
0 Joan de Hennim (Mentioned in 1679), Jesuit
= Governor Luis de Melo Sampaio (1679-1682)
= Governor Diogo do Pinho Teixeira (1706 — 1710)
= Governor Diogo Pereira (25 Aug. 1738 — 25 Aug. 1743)
0 Senate of Macao (Mentioned 1685 — 1742)

O oo

Madras:
= (Sir) Edward Winter (Mentioned in 1664), Eighth administrator of Madras
*  Edward Reid (Edward Reades) (Mentioned in 1664), EIC servant
e William Daws (Mentioned in 1664), EIC servant
e William Gifford (Mentioned in 1664), EIC servant
=  Governor William Gyfford (1681 — 1684)
=  Governor Thomas Pitt (1698 — 1709)
e Governor Gabriel Roberts (1702 — 1705), Deputy Governor of Fort St. David
=  Governor Edward Harrison (1711 - 1717)
=  Governor Elihu Yale (1697 — 1692), President of Fort. St. George
e Syahbandar Madras (Mentioned in 1719)
Makassar:
=  Bras Pinto de Matos (Mentioned in 1636)
Malabar:
= Lords of Malabar (Mentioned in 1677)
=  B. Bartholomeus (Mentioned in 1678), Bishop of Spiritu Sancto Carmel from the ordre of
Barrevuts, fr. Angel d' Evangel
= Angel Francis (Mentioned in 1678), Patre of de Saint Teresa
=  Bartholomeus Anna Aleppensis (Mentioned in 1678), Bishop
Malacca:

=  Pascoal Barretto (Mentioned in 1636), Regent

=  Antdnio de Moraes de Sa (Mentioned in 1680), Catholic priest
= Maritinio Diaz (Mentioned in 1682), Mardijker

=  Francis van Tutukorijn (Mentioned in 1682), Mardijker

=  Emmanuel S. Antonio, OP (1701 — 1738), Bishop of Malacca

= Hidalgos Fiumo (Mentioned in 1707), Italian

Manilla:



=  Governor-General Sebastian Hurtado de Corcuera (1635-1644)
=  Governor-General Diego de Salcedo (1663-1668)
0 Joannes Theodorus Wissick (Mentioned in 1669)
=  Governor-General Juan de Vargas y Hurtado (1678-1684)
= Don Diego Antonio de Viga (Mentioned in 1679), Viceroy of the Philippines
= Carlos Torcotti Societate (Mentioned in 1680), Spanish Jesuit from the point of Ruben
=  Governor-General Fausto Cruzat y Géngora (25 Jul. 1690 — 8 Dec. 1701)
=  Governor-General Domingo Zabdlburu de Echevarri (8 Dec. 1701 — 25 Aug., 1709)
=  Governor-General Fernando Manuel de Bustillo Bustamante y Rueda (4 Feb. 1715 -9 Aug.
1717)
0 Bois de Lorie (mentioned in 1716), probably a merchant from France
0 Qi Bao-Cha (mentioned in 1719), a Chinese merchant
0 Julian Ignacio de Velacio (Mentioned in in 1720), may be a missionary
=  Governor-General Fernando Valdés y Tamon (14 Aug. 1729 —Jul. 1739)
=  Major Manuel de St. Stephan (Mentioned in 1730)
=  Governor-General Gaspar de la Torre (Jul. 1739 — 21 Sep. 1745)

Nagapattinam:

= Cosmo Ledo de Lima (Mentioned in 1642)
= Antdnio Rodriguez (Mentioned between 1642-1643)

Puducherry:
=  Governor-General Pierre Dulivier (1712 - 1717)
Saldanha:
=  French merchants (Mentioned in 1633)
Surat:
= William Metholt (Mentioned in 1636), EIC governor of Surat
= William Fremlin (1639-1644), EIC President of Surat
*  Frank Breton (Mentioned in 1641), EIC servant
e lan Wild (Mentioned in 1641), EIC servant
=  Mathews Andrews (Mentioned in 1661), EIC governor of Surat
= Jean-Baptiste Tavernier (Mentioned in 1665), French gem merchant
Tayouan:

= VOC captives in Tayouan (Mentioned between 1670-1673)
e Alexander van s' Gravenbroek (Mentioned between 1677-1681), VOC prisoner
in Tayouan
e Harman Verbies (Mentioned between 1677-1681), VOC prisoner in Tayouan
e Joan Brummer (Mentioned between 1677-1681), VOC prisoner in Tayouan

Glossarium: titles and their meanings

The VOC-clerks were not consistend in the use of spelling of names and titles. Therefore, we standardized the
titles and predicates according to modern Indonesian/English spelling. Any valuable contributions or comments
are welcome, since at this moment this list may be incomplete.



Title VOC spelling Locations Meaning

Adipati Adipatty Java, Malay kingdoms ‘Lord’; high noblemen
(more or less the
equivalent to ‘duke’ in
Europe)

Ama Moluccas Father

Anum Anum, Hanum, Anoem Java, Bali ‘Young’, ‘son’; title used
for crown princes

Arya Aria, Ario Java, Malay Kingdoms Originally ‘Aryan’, then *
Man of high caste’; used on
Java for highrandking
officials3®

Bendahara Bandahara Johor Chief minister and
commander-in-chief

Bu Yuan (Zongdu) Pouy China Governor, Governor-

(governor-general;
viceroy)

General

Daeng (Areng
padaengang)

Dajeng, Daeng

Molucca’s/Sulawesi

Highest aristocratic title in
Makassar; personal title of
children of prince

Dato Paduka

Dato Paducca

Malay kingdoms, Johor

“Your Highness”

Dato

Dato

Johor, Malay kingdoms,
etc.

‘Grandfather’, ‘grandsire’;
1) heritable title for great
territorial chiefs or
magnates, 2) title
conferred for life together
with the first or second
class of an order of chivalry

Datuk

Datuc, Dato, Datuk

Java, Malay Kingdoms

‘Lord’, ‘chief’

Demang

Deman, Demang

Malay kingdoms, Java,
Sumatra

Official in Java and
Sumatra, used for heads of
kademangan (group of
villages) or local
representatives ain

38 B. Schrieke, Indonesian sociological studies: selected writings of B. Schrieke (The Hague/Bandung: W. van Hoeve Ltd. 1957) Vol II: Ruler and

realm in early Java: 457.




apanage of noble residing
at courts®®

Dewa

Dewa

Java, Bali

‘Devine’; predicate used by
rulers on Bali

Dipati (abbreviated form
of ‘Adipati’)

Depatty, Dipati, etc.

Java, Malay kingdoms

Administrative officer; see
also: ‘Adipati’

Fetor Fetor, Fettor Rote Executive regent (from:
feta/fetor: female)*®
Gammalamo Gamolamo, Gamme Moluccas 'Great Place’ or ‘big town’;
Lamme, Gammalamme, a term which is assigned to
Gammolamme various sites scattered
around the island that once
served as the residence of
the sultans
Gogugu/ Gugugu Goegoe, Goegoegoe, Moluccas ‘Powerholder’; deputy
Gogoegoe, Gougougou governor.*
Gusti Gusti, Goesti, Goestie Bali, Java ‘Leader’; title for high
nobles (kings) on Bali
Hukum Hoekum, Hoecko Moluccas Onderhoofd, title uised for
the 2" in command at
courts in the Moluccas or
army officers
Hoppo (Hubu) Houpouw, Hupouw China ‘Yuehaiguanbu’; Chinese
official charged to collect
taxes on trade goods
Kaicili (Kaicili) Caitsjilie, Kaitsili, Moluccas Prince. Title usually

Katsijli, Katsijli, Keits;jili,
Kitsyly

reserved for the Sultan’s
male offspring®?

Karaeng (Areng
pakkaraengang)

Carain, Carien, Crain,
Caraing

Sulawesi, Moluccas, Timor

Chief, ruler®

39 Ibidem: 458.

40 Hagerdal, Lords of the land, lords of the sea: 221. See: Fox, ‘Traditional justice and the ‘court system’ of the Island of Roti’ in: The Asia Pacific
Journal of Anthropology 8/1 (2007): 59-73: 60-1.
41 Muridan, The revolt of prince Nuku: 222.

42 R.P. Abdurachman, “Niachile Pokaraga’ A Sad Story of a Moluccan Queen’ in: Modern Asian Studies 22/3 (1988): 571-592: 574

43 Cummings, A Chain of kings: vii.




Kapitan Laut

Capitain, Captain,
Capiteyn Laout,
Capitein Lauwt, Radja
Laout

Java, bali, Timor, Sulawesi,
Moluccas

Sea-officer, head of the
fleet, admiral

Kartayuda (Karta Yuda)

Carta Joeda, Carta
Jouda,Cartayouda,
Carta Joeda, Carta Juda,
Karta Jouda

Java, Malay kingdoms

Army Officer (from: yuda
[Sanskrit]: war, battle)

Kimelaha Kimelaha North Moluccas ‘Foremost person’ or ‘good
person’; Sultan’s
representative, chiefly title
in North Maluku®*

Ki (abbreviated form of Keey, Kiey Java, Malay kingdoms Abbreviated form of ‘Kyai’:

‘Kyai’; see below)

see below.

Ki Arya Keey Aria, Kiey Aria, Java, Malay kingdoms Combination of ‘Ki’ and
etc. ‘Arya’, usually used for
administrative officers.

Ki Demang Kiay Deman, Kiey Java, Malay kingdoms Combination of ‘Ki’ (or

Demang ‘Kyai’) and ‘Demang’ (see
above)

Ki Mas Keey Maas Java, Malay kingdoms Combination of ‘Ki’ (or
‘Kyai’) and ‘Mas’ (see
below); title for a low
ranking officer

Kyai Kiay, Kiaij Java, Malay kingdoms ‘Senior’, ‘venerable’; article

prefixed to names or titles
of officials or persons of
rank, used to emphasize
titles®

Kyai Chili (see: Kaicili)

Caitsjilie, Kaitsili,
Katsijli, Katsijli, Keits;jili,
Kitsyly

Sulawesi, Moluccas, Timor

See: Kaicili

4 Abdurachman, ‘Niachile Pokaraga’: 575, 6n; Ch.F. van Fraassen, P.J. Klapwijk, Herinnering aan een reis naar Oost-Indié: reisverslag en
aquarellen van Maurits Ver Huell, 1815-1819 (Zutphen: Walburg Pers/Linschoten-Vereeniging 2008): 261, 662.
45 Schrieke, Indonesian sociological studies: 459.




Laksamana Laxamana Johor Admiral/Military Chief

Maharaja Maharadja, Maharaja Java, Sumatra, India, etc. ‘Great Raja’, ‘emperor’;
Hindu- title for great kings
or emperors (see: ‘Raja’)

Mantri Mantrie, Mantry, Java, Sulawesi, Official, minister of state,

Montrie, Montry, etc. Kalimantan, Sumatra, etc. | sometimes used for
assistant of Adipati

Mas Maas, Maes, Mas Java, Sumatra, Borneo, ‘Golden’; prefix used to

etc. emphasize title

Nai Nai, Nay Timor ‘Lord’4®

Ngabehi Angabij, Angabehi, Java, Sumatra Malay ‘Commander’; title for

Angebey, Angeby, kingdomes, etc. officials, usually for military
Ingabey, Ingebay officials sometimes for
administrative officer

Ombol Ombol Java Agent of a prince®’

Orang Kaya Orangcaya, Orangkaya, | Malay Kingdoms, ‘Rich men’; aristocrats

Orang Kaya Molucca’s, Borneo, etc.

Paduka Paducca Johor, Malay kingdoms ‘Shoe’, more or less
synonymous with ‘feet of’,
part of high titles, meaning
something like ‘excellency’,
or ‘majesty’*®

Panembahan Panembahan, Java ‘Object of veneration’, title

Panembahaan, of certain Javanese rulers*®
Panumbahan,
Panimbahan etc.

Pangeran Pangeran Java, Malay kingdoms ‘Object of attention’, title

of Javanese princes®°
Pangiran

Pangeran Mas

Pangeran Mas,
Pangeran Maas, etc.

Java

‘First Pangeran’; see
‘Pangeran’

4 H.G. Schulte Nordholt, The political system of the Atoni on Timor (...): 262.
47 0. Atsushi, Changes of regime and social dynamics in West-Java society, state and the outer world of Banten: 1750 - 1830 (Leiden/Boston:

Brill 2006): 95.

48 Schrieke, Indonesian sociological studies: 460

4 |bidem.
50 |bidem.




Panglima Panglima Java, Malay kingdoms General
Penghulu Panghoeloe, Sumatra, Java, etc. ‘Chief’, title of a spriritual
Panghoulou, Panglou, leader in a Muslim
Ponghoeloe Ponghou, community in Indonesia
Pouglou, Ponghoulou,
Ponglou, Ponlou,
Pounglou, etc.
Raden Radin, Raden Java, Malay kingdoms, ‘Squire’; title used for high
etc. officers, sometimes
suigres, below ‘Pangeran’
Raja Raja, Radja Hindu kingdomes, Java, Hindu-title for kings
Malay kingdoms, etc.
Rangga Rangga, Ranga, etc. Java Title used for Jvanese
officials
Ratu Ratoe, Ratu, etc. Java, Sumatra, etc. ‘Ruler’; king.
Reng Reng Reng Reng Borneo Karaeng [?]
Unknown
Wazir Wazir, Wazir Dutch colonial term Prime minister, lit.
‘controller of the empire’
Sangaji Sanghadja, Sanghadje, Timor, Molucca’s ‘Your Highness’; title used
Sanghadjie, Senghadje, | (origanally Javanese) for district head or local
Senghadjie, Senhadje rulers on and near Timor
and in the Molucca’s
Shah Syah, Sjah, etc. Persia, Middle East, King (Persian)

Mughal Empire

Syahbandar (Shahbandar)

Sabandaar,
Sabandhaar,
Sabandhaer,
Sabandhar,
Sjahbandhaar,
(Sabandharije)

South- and Southeast Asia

harbor master (Persian:
shah-bandar)

Sultan

Sultan, Sulthan

Middle-East, South- and
Southeast Asia

Sultan, king

Sunan (abbreviation of
‘Susuhunan’, see below)

Soenan, Sunan,
Soehnang, etc.

Java; Mataram, Kartasura

Abbreviation of
‘Susuhunan’, see below




Susuhunan Soeoehoenang, Java; Mataram, Kartasura | ‘Royal foot’ (lit), hence ‘His
Soeoehoenangh, Majesty’; emperor, title for
Sousouhounang, the rulers of Mataram from
Sousouhounangh, 1624 onwards and for the
Zousouhounang, rulers of Kartasura from
Zouzouhounang 1755 onwards (after the

partition of Mataram)!

Tumenggung Timmogon, Java, Malay kingdoms Noble title used for high
Tomanggong, Javanese officials, usually
Tommagaon, awarded to officers of
Tommagon, Tommogon public security

Wazir Rijksbestierder Java, Persia, Mughal First minister, treasurer,

Empire Grand-Vizier.
Zamorin Sammorijn Calicut Hereditary royal title used

by the rulers of the
Kingdom of Calicut

Selected bibliography and resources:

Online resources:

http://www.royalark.net/ [2-9-2015]

http://melayuonline.com/eng/history/dig/2/malay-kingdoms [2-19-2014]

http://www.worldstatesmen.org/ [2-19-2014]

http://www.hubert-herald.nl/INHOUD.htm [2-19-2014]

http://www.paserkab.go.id/10/1/1/Sejarah-Paser [2-6-2015]

http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Indonesia_princely states2.html#Mampawa [2-6-2015]

https://sultansinindonesieblog.wordpress.com/ [3-27-2015]

Printed sources:

Abdurachman, R.P., ‘Niachile Pokaraga’ A Sad Story of a Moluccan Queen’ in: Modern Asian Studies 22/3 (1988):

571-592.

Andaya, L.Y., The world of Maluku: Eastern Indonesia in the early modern period (Honolulu: University of Hawaii

Press 1993).

51 Ibidem: 461.




Atsushi, O., Changes of regime and social dynamics in West-Java society, state and the outer world of Banten: 1750
- 1830 (Leiden/Boston: Brill 2006).

Carey, P. The power of prophecy: prince Dipanagara and the end of an old order in Java, 1785-1855. (Leiden: KITLV
Press, 2" ed. 2008).

Cruysse, D. van den, Siam & the West, 1500-1700 (English translation by M. Smithies, Bangkok: Silkworm Books
2002).

Cummings, W. P.,

=  (Edited) A Chain of Kings: The Makassarese Chronicles of Gowa and Tallog (Bliotheca Indonesica 33) (KITLV
Press: Leiden 2007).

= The Makassar annals (Bibliotheca Indonesica) (KITLV Press: Leiden 2010).
Cushman, R.D. and D.K. Wyatt (ed.), The royal chronicles of Ayutthaya (Bangkok: The Siam Society 2000).

Drakard, J., A Malay Frontier: Unity and Duality in a Sumatran Kingdom (Ithaca: Southeast Asia Program, Cornell
University Press 1990).

J.J. Fox,

= J.J. Fox ‘Tracing the path, recounting the past: historical perspectives on Timor’ in: J.J. Fox and D. Babo
Soares (eds.), Out of the Ashes: Destruction and Reconstruction o East Timor (Adelaide: Crawford House,
2000): 1-23;

= ‘Traditional Justice and the ‘Court System’ of the Island of Roti’ in: The Asia Pacific Journal of
Anthropology, 8:1 (2007): 59-73;

= ‘The discourse and practice of precedence’ in: Michael P. Vischer (ed.) Precedence: Social Differentiation
in the Austronesian World (Canberra: ANU Press 2009): 91-110;

= ‘A Rotinese dynastic genealogy: structure and events’ in: T. O. Beidelman (ed.), The Translation of Culture:
Essays to E.E. Evans-Pritchard (London: Tavistock Publications 1971, reprinted 2013): 37-77.

Fraassen, van, Ternate, de Molukken en de Indonesische archipel : van soa-organisatie en vierdeling: een studie van
traditionele samenleving en cultuur in Indonesié (Leiden, KITLV Press 1987).

Fraassen, Ch.F. van and P.J. Klapwijk, Herinnering aan een reis naar Oost-Indié: reisverslag en aquarellen van
Maurits Ver Huell, 1815-1819 (Zutphen: Walburg Pers/Linschoten-Vereeniging 2008)

Gazali Usman, M., Kerajaan Banjar: Sejarah Perkembangan Politik, Ekonomi, Perdagangan dan Agama Islam,
(Banjarmasin: Lambung Mangkurat Press, 1994).

Guillot, C., Banten: sejarah dan peradaban abad X-XVII (Jakarta: KPG 2008).

Hagerdal, H., Lords of the land, lords of the sea; Conflict and adaptation in early colonial Timor, 1600-1800 (Leiden:
KITLV Press 2012).

Hoang, Anh Tuan, Silk for silver: Dutch-Vietnamese relations, 1637-1700 (Leiden/Boston: Brill 2007).

Lohanda, M. and H. E. Niemeijer, Marginalia to the Daily Journals of Batavia Castle (1659-1799). A digitized
contemporary chronological entry to archives of the Dutch East India Company (VOC). (Jakarta: Arsip Nasional
Republik Indonesia/The Corts Foundation 2013).



Moh Oemar, Sejarah daerah Jawa Tengah (Jakarta: Departemen Pendidikan dan Kebudayaan, Direktorat Jenderal
Kebudayaan, Direktorat Sejarah dan Nilai Tradisional, Proyek Inventarisasi dan Dokumentasi Sejarah Nasional,
1994 [i.e. 1995]).

Ricklefs, M.C.,

= A History of Modern Indonesia since c. 1300 (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1981, 2" ed. 1993).
= The Seen and unseen worlds in Java, 1726-1249: history, literature and islam in the court pf Pakubuwana Il
(Honolulu: ASAA, in association with Allen & Unwin and University of Hawaii Press 1998).

Ruangsilp, B. Dutch East India Company merchants at the court of Ayutthaya: Dutch percetions of the Thai
kingdom, c. 1604-1765 (Leiden/Boston: Brill 2007)

Schrieke, B., Indonesian sociological studies: selected writings of B. Schrieke (The Hague/Bandung: W. van Hoeve
Ltd. 1957) Vol Il: Ruler and realm in early Java.

Thalens, J. ‘Het sultanaat Banten en de VOC' in: E. Locher-Scholten and P. Rietbergen (eds.), Hof en handel,
Aziatische vorsten en de VOC 1620-1720 (Leiden: KITLV Press 2004).

Truhart, P., Lords of nations: systematic chronology of states and their political representatives in past and present.
Part 3: Asia & Pacific Oceania (Miinchen: K.G. Saur, 2" revised and enlarged ed. 2003).

Um, N., The merchant houses of Mocha: trade and architecture in an Indian Ocean port (Washinton: University of
Washington Press 2009).

Ward, K., Networks of empire. Forced migration in the Dutch East India Company (New York: Cambridge University
Press 2009).

Watson Andaya B., ‘Cash cropping and upstream-downstream tensions: the case of Jambi in the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries’ in: A. Reid (ed.), Southeast Asia in the early moder era: trade, power, and belief (Ithaca and
London: Cornell University Press 1993): 91-122.

Weng Eang Cheong, The Hong merchants of Canton. Chinese merchants in Sino-Western trade (Richmond, Curzon
Press/Nordic Institute of Asian Studies 1997)

Widjojo, Muridan S., The revolt of prince Nuku: Cross cultural alliance-making in Maluku, c. 1780-1810
(Leiden/Boston: Brill 2009).



